




































































































 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             382 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on November 21, 2023, being the third 

Tuesday of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 

3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 

7. Directors: Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff; Louis Wright, Chief 

Administrative Officer; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; Sabrina Shelby, 

Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Catoria Martin, City Attorney.  

 

 Absent:           None. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The invocation was offered by Minister Ronnie Crudup, Jr. of New Horizon Church, 

International. 

   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

   * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note: Vice President Lee and Council Member Stokes joined the meeting. 

 

     * * * * * * * * * * * * * *   

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Hartley, to suspend the rules to allow for public comments for non-agenda related items. 

The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell.    

     * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

The following individual provided public comments during the meeting: 

 

• Teshy Jalf expressed concerns regarding the road closure on East Northside Drive due to 

water repairs and the negative effect it is having on businesses within the area.  

 

                                                * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PARCELS OF REAL PROPERTY IN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE PURSUANT TO SECTION 21-19-11 OF THE MISSISSIPPI 

CODE AND BASED ON ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS HELD AUGUST 1, 2023 

FOR THE FOLLOWING CASES: 

23-944  23-943  23-1162  23-1161  23-861  23-1180 

21-717  23-1298  22-2275  22-2274  22-2273  23-1346 
23-291  23-832  23-681  23-987  21-1785  21-1786 
23-985  23-461  23-864    

 

 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Agenda Item No. 8December 19, 2023(S.Jordan, Banks)



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             383 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code as amended provides that a 

governing authority shall conduct a hearing to determine whether property or parcels of land 

located within a municipality is in such a state of uncleanliness as to be a menace to the public 

health, safety and welfare of the community; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code as amended sets forth the 

procedure for mailing and posting notice of the hearing; and 

WHEREAS, hearings were held on August 1, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, the hearing officer determined that notice was provided in accordance 

with Section 21-19-11 prior to the hearings; and 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony and reviewing evidence, the hearing officer made 

findings and recommendations for adjudication concerning certain parcels as follows: 

1)     Case #23-944: Parcel #429-76 located at 4128 Cedar St.: After hearing testimony 

from Donald McGowan, the hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 

as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. However, Donald McGowan, shall be 

afforded forty-five (45) days, or until September 15, 2023, to cure the violations by 

completing the scope of work. If there is a default and the City proceeds with cleaning, the 

hearing officer recommends an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 

3 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

2)     Case #23-943: Parcel #429-65 located at 0 Cedar St. No appearance by the owner or 

an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $750.00. Ward 3 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

3)     Case #23-1162: Parcel #425-453 located at 3621 Brame Ave. After hearing 

testimony from Bailey Mary, the hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. However, Bailey Mary shall 

be afforded fifteen (15) days, or until August 16, 2023, to cure the violations by completing 

the scope of work. If there is a default and the City proceeds with cleaning, the hearing 

officer recommends an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 7 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris & inoperable vehicle. 

4)     Case #23-1161: Parcel #425-444 located at 3623 Brame Ave.: After hearing 

testimony from Bailey Mary, the hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. However, Bailey Mary shall 

be afforded thirty (30) days, or until August 31, 2023, to cure the violations by completing 

the scope of work. If there is a default and the City proceeds with cleaning, the hearing 

officer recommends an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris & inoperable vehicle. 

5)     Case #23-861: Parcel #429-406 located at 3928 Oaklawn Dr.: No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

Scope of Work: Board up and secure structure, cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, 

bushes, and saplings; remove the trash, debris, wooden boards/crates, appliances/old 

furniture, building materials/old bricks, tree limbs & parts, tires; and clean curbside. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             384 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

6)     Case #23-1180: Parcel #517-232 located at 411 Benning Rd. No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

7)     Case #21-717: Parcel #805-177-6 located at 6536 George Washington Dr. No 

appearance by the owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the 

property be adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an 

assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $750.00. Ward 2 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards and cut grass and weeds. 

8)     Case #23-1298: Parcel #804-633 located at 0 John F. Kennedy Blvd.: No appearance 

by the owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $750.00. Ward 2 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

9)     Case #22-2275: Parcel #640-156 located at 607 W. Hillsdale Dr.: No appearance by 

the owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards and cut grass and weeds. 

10)  Case #22-2274: Parcel #640-169 located at 621 W. Hillsdale Dr.: No appearance by 

the owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $1,000.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards and cut grass and weeds. 

11)  Case #22-2273: Parcel #640-172 located at 627 W. Hillsdale Dr.: No appearance by 

the owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $750.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards and cut grass and weeds. 

12)  Case #23-1346: Parcel #640-177 located at 0 W. Hillsdale Dr. No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

13)  Case #23-291: Parcel #640-361 located at 5111 Nantuckett Dr.: After hearing 

testimony from Bullocks Gene A, the hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. However, Bullocks Gene A 

shall be afforded sixty (60) days, or until September 30, 2023, to cure the violations by 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             385 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

completing the scope of work. If there is a default and the City proceeds with cleaning, the 

hearing officer recommends an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 

4 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards and cut grass and weeds. 

14)  Case #23-832: Parcel #176-69 located at 317 W. Rankin St. No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 7 

Scope of Work: Board up and secure structure, cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, 

bushes, and saplings; remove the trash, debris, wooden boards/crates, appliances/old 

furniture, building materials/old bricks, tree limbs & parts, tires; and clean curbside. 

15)  Case #23-681: Parcel #121-46 located at 142 Houston Ave.: No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 5 

Scope of Work: Board up and secure structure, cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, 

bushes, and saplings; remove the trash, debris, wooden boards/crates, appliances/old 

furniture, building materials/old bricks, tree limbs & parts, tires; and clean curbside. 

16)  Case #23-987: Parcel #629-55 located at 712 Lindsey Dr. No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 5 

Scope of Work: Board up and secure structure, cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, 

bushes, and saplings; remove the trash, debris, wooden boards/crates, appliances/old 

furniture, building materials/old bricks, tree limbs & parts, tires; and clean curbside. 

17)  Case #21-1785: Parcel #306-318 located at 223 Sanford St.: No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Board up and secure structure, cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, 

bushes, and saplings; remove the trash, debris, wooden boards/crates, appliances/old 

furniture, building materials/old bricks, tree limbs & parts, tires; and clean curbside. 

18)  Case #21-1786: Parcel #306-344 located at 224 Sanford St. No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 4 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

19)  Case #23-985: Parcel #629-33 located at 703 Lindsey Dr. No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 5 

Scope of Work: Board up and secure structure, cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, 

bushes, and saplings; remove the trash, debris, wooden boards/crates, appliances/old 

furniture, building materials/old bricks, tree limbs & parts, tires; and clean curbside. 

20)  Case #23-461: Parcel #110-51 located at 1106 Bratton St.: No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             386 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

21)  Case #23-864: Parcel #110-46 located at 1006 Bratton St.: No appearance by the 

owner or an interested party. The hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with an assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above parcels be adjudicated a menace to public 

health as recommended by the hearing officer. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a copy of the notices mailed and posted to owners and 

interested parties of the above parcels shall be included in the minutes along with this resolution 

pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code as amended. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Administration shall be authorized to remedy 

conditions on the parcels posing a threat to public, health, and safety using municipal resources or 

contract labor if the owners fail to do so. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the adjudication of penalties, if any, shall be reserved 

until such time that a resolution is approved assessing actual costs. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell.  
 

The Notices of Hearing pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code, as it relates to each 

parcel of property, is incorporated herein in their entirety, and located in Public Notices, located in 

the City Clerk’s Office of the City of Jackson, Mississippi.   

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 24, 2023 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 30, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 1, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             387 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell.                          * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Note: Council Member Grizzell joined the meeting.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

There came on for Introduction Agenda Item No. 7: 

 

ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON CLASSIFICATION AND 

COMPENSATION PLAN TO ADD THE JOB CLASSIFICATION OF 

MARKETING COORDINATOR. President Banks stated said item would be taken up 

for adoption during the December 5, 2023 meeting.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29575 to 29623 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 80 TO 103 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,702,547.37 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29575 to 29623 appearing at pages 80 

to 103, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$2,702,547.37 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 

 

                                                                                                                      TO 

                                                                                                    ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                              FUND 

GENERAL FUND   803,008.34 

TECHNOLOGY FUND  67,864.66 

PARKS & RECR. FUND  149,921.92 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  46,456.14 

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  4,271.25 

WATER/SEWER CAPITAL IMPR FUND  697,519.70 

HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  4,328.84 

EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT (ESG)  8,102.15 

H O P W A GRANT – DEPT OF HUD   34,847.77 

INFRASTRUCTURE BOND 2020 $32M  116,586.65 

1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  23,329.32 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  49,466.52 

JXN CONVENTION & VISITORS BUR   267,257.98 

POLICE PROP EVIDENCE CASH FUND  19,579.00 

P E G ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND  300.00 

CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND   533.90 

MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM   8,400.00 

MODERNIZATION TAX  173,400.00 

SIEMENS SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT   3,074.50 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  24,278.03 

LIBRARY FUND  9,453.50 

DFA-SB2971-TOUGALOO CENTER   32,800.00 

DFA-SB2971-PETE BROWN GOLF  25,567.75 

MDOT-ERBR PROJECTS  132,199.45 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $2,702,547.37 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             388 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided an 

overview of larger claims at the request of President Banks.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks, Hartley and Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 

 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 29575 TO 29623 AND MAKING 

 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 29575 to 29623 

inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $110,995.08 

plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 

municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 

fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 

payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 

         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     

                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,605,847.28 

PARKS & RECR FUND  90,378.19 

LANDFILL FUND  23,105.28 

SENIOR AIDES  3,440.23 

WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  66,447.68 

PAYROLL  $110,995.08  

HOUSING COMM DEV  8,894.73 

TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,989.80 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  15,975.85 

PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,462.50 

2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  32,257.60 

NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING 

COMM 

 7,400.70 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,872,605.55 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following individual provided public comments during the meeting: 

 

• Luretha Wells expressed concerns regarding the liter a trash problem on Jackson 

highways and roads.  

 

                                                * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             389 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

ORDER RE-APPOINTING EMON D. THOMPSON, SR. TO THE PLANNING 

BOARD OF THE CITYOF JACKSON.  

WHEREAS, the Planning Board is comprised of fifteen (15) members who each serve 

four-year terms; and 

 

WHEREAS, on September 26, 2019, the City Council confirmed the Mayor’s 

appointment of Emon D. Thompson, Sr. to fill the board vacancy for Ward 6 on the Planning 

Board with a term that expired on September 26, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor, after evaluation and review of his qualifications, has re-appointed 

Emon D. Thompson to fill the board vacancy for Ward 6 with a term to begin retroactively on 

September 27, 2023. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDEREDthat the Mayor’s appointment of Emon D. Thompson, 

Sr. to the Planning Board of the City of Jackson be confirmed with the term to retroactively begin 

on September 27, 2023 and to expire on September 27, 2027. 

 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff, who provided a brief overview of said 

item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay, and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 11: 

 

ORDER ESTABLISHING RENTAL AND DEPOSIT FEES FOR THE USE OF 

TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES BY PERSONS HOLDING EVENTS IN THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, WHICH NECESSITATE THE CLOSING OF 

PUBLIC THOROUGHFARES (SPECIAL EVENTS COMMITTEE). President 

Banks stated said item would be referred to the Public Safety Committee.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING A MEMO OF AGREEMENT (MOA) BETWEEN THE 

UNITED STATES ARMY TRAINING AND DOCTRINE COMMAND (TRADOC) 

AND CITY OF JACKSON TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PARTNERSHIP FOR 

YOUTH SUCCESS (PAYS) PROGRAM.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code authorizes the governing authorities 

of Municipalities to adopt any orders, resolutions, or ordinances with respect to municipal affairs 

not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the Mississippi Code of 1972, or any 

other statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and  

WHEREAS, the maintaining of an adequately trained and qualified workforce to meet and 

serve public need is a municipal affair; and  

WHEREAS, the United States Army Training and Doctrine Command Partnership for 

Youth Success Program may provide the City of Jackson with trained and qualified persons to fill 

various vacancies within the City; and  

WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by entering into an 

MOA with the United States Army Training and Doctrine Command; and  



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             390 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the terms of the MOA are as follows: 
 

WHEREAS, TRADOC will: 
 

• Advise enlistment prospects of the PaYS Program during their initial Army interview, 

and further advise after qualifying for one or more Military Occupational Specialties 

of the related Civilian job opportunities for which they may be qualified under the 

PaYS Program. 
 

• Advise Reserved Officers' Training Corps (ROTC) Cadets of the related civilian job 

opportunities under the PaYS Program for which they may be qualified after 

completion of their bachelor's degree and commissioning. 
 

• Develop and distribute recruiting literature to publicize the PaYS Program, 

characterizing it as an enlistment incentive. 
 

• Provide information to the City of Jackson to assist in maintaining contact with its 

PaYS participants. 
 

• Provide a PaYS helpdesk to facilitate any questions involving the PaYS Program. 
 

• Provide transition support to first-term Regular Army enlisted Soldiers as they leave 

Military service, U.S. Army Reserve and U.S. Army National Guard enlisted Soldiers 

as they complete their initial training, and ROTC Cadets as they complete requirements 

for their bachelor's degree and commission and/or their initial active-duty period of 

service with the Army as it concerns the PaYS Program, using the Transition 

Assistance Program and Army Career Counselors. 
 

WHEREAS, City of Jackson will: 
 

• Refer to the department for interviews if the participants are one of the top three 

candidates for the position and is placed on the eligibility list. 

• Participants will be interviewed for current vacancies in non-classified positions within 

thirty (30 days) of completing initial active- duty training. 

• Participants will be provided with an application during their final year of college or 

after confirmation of their component and branch along with a listing of current 

vacancies within the City of Jackson.  Any application received from a PaYS 

participants will be maintained for a period of one (1) year. 

• Provide and maintain a point of contact within the City to assist PaYS. 
 

• Provide TRADOC with joint recruiting opportunities on a periodic basis (as market 

and business conditions allow) in various communities served by the City of Jackson 

such as co-presentations at schools, technical/trade schools, organizations, and career 

fairs. 

• Provide TRADOC with information on the ultimate placement of the PaYS Veterans. 

Release of interview/hiring information may be limited to raw numbers; and 

WHEREAS, each party is responsible for all costs of its personnel, including pay and 

benefits, support, and travel; and 
 

WHEREAS, each party is also responsible for supervision and management of its 

personnel; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA will be reviewed in its entirety no less than on or around the 

midpoint of its effective date; and  
 

WHEREAS, this MOA may only be modified by the written agreement of the parties, duly 

signed by their authorized representatives; and 
 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             391 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, any disputes relating to this MOA will be subject to any applicable law, 

executive order, or Department of Defense issuance; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA may be terminated by either party by giving at least ninety (90) 

days written notice to the other Party; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA may also be terminated at any time upon the mutual written 

consent of the parties; and 
 

WHEREAS, should this MOA be terminated unilaterally or by mutual agreement of the 

parties, any Soldier or Cadet enrolled with the CITY OF JACKSON will be given the opportunity 

to select another PaYS Partner, as such termination severs any ties the Army PaYS participant 

would have with the CITY OF JACKSON.; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA is not transferable, except with the written consent of the parties; 

and 
 

WHEREAS, the effective date of this MOA takes effect beginning on the day after the last 

party signs; and  
 

WHEREAS, this MOA expires ten (10) years after the last Party signs; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA does not bind any Federal agency, other than the Parties, nor waive 

required compliance with any law or regulation; and  
 

WHEREAS, all agreements herein are subject to, and will be carried out in compliance 

with all applicable Federal laws, regulations, and other legal requirements; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA is not legally enforceable and shall not be construed to create any 

legal obligation on the part of either Party; and 
 

WHEREAS, this MOA shall not be construed to provide a private right or cause of action 

for or by any person or entity; and 
 

WHEREAS, participation in the PaYS Program is not a government contract within the 

meaning of the Federal Acquisition Regulation and does not confer upon the City of Jackson 

Government contractor or subcontractor status for purposes of Executive Order 11246 and other 

Federal laws; and  
 

WHEREAS, nothing in this MOA authorizes or is intended to obligate the parties to 

expend, exchange, reimburse funds, services, supplies, transfer or receive anything of value. 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a memorandum of 

agreement (MOA) with the United States Army Training and Doctrine Command (TRADOC). 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 13: 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN INSURANCE 

SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

AND FISHER BROWN BOTTRELL INSURANCE AGENCY. President Banks 

stated said item would be referred to the Finance Committee. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER RATIFYING AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO RENEW THE 

CITYWORKS LICENSE AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH AZTECA 

SYSTEMS, LLC.  



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             392 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code as amended, vests the care, custody 

and control of municipal property and affairs with the municipality; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code, as amended, authorizes a 

municipality to adopt orders concerning municipal affairs, property, and finances that are not 

inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1980, the Mississippi Code of 1972, and any other 

statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, on October 11, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to 

execute an agreement with Azteca System, Inc. for the maintenance of the Cityworks software 

from September 8, 2022, through September 7, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Cityworks software supports the City of Jackson’s 311 Action Line for 

all non-emergency service requests; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order for the City of Jackson to continue to provide an avenue for residents 

to submit a request for non-emergency services, the Administration recommends that the Mayor 

be authorized to renew the License and Maintenance agreement with Azteca Systems, LLC 

pursuant to Section 5.1 of the previous agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Azteca Systems, LLC located at 11075 S. State St., Suite 24, Sandy, UT 

84070, proposes to the City of Jackson a one-year license and maintenance agreement for an 

amount not to exceed $59,000.00 for the following products; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 5.1 provides that the License Agreement and its maintenance 

provisions may then be renewed annually by payment of the then-current maintenance fees for the 

next annual maintenance period; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Administration further represents that the Cityworks software is a 

“single-source item” and is excepted from bidding requirements; however, upon approval by the 

Jackson City Council, the Administration is authorized to make said purchase as mandated by 

Section 31-7-13(m)(viii) of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended; and 

 

Product Name                                          Quantity                                             Net Unit Price 

Server AMS Custom ELA                       1.00 USD                                           59,0000.00 

Service Request API License                   1.00 USD                                           0.00 

Equipment Checkout License                  1.00 USD.                                           0.00 

Cityworks Analytics License                   1.00 USD                                            0.00 

Storeroom License                                   1.00 USD                                            0.00 

CCTV Interface for PACP License         1.00 USD                                            0.00 

MicroPaver License                                 1.00 USD                                            0.00 

 

WHEREAS, following the purchase, the Administration is required to file with the 

Department of Finance and Administration, documentation of the purchase, including a description 

of the commodity purchased, the purchase price thereof and the source from whom it was 

purchased as mandated by Section 31-7-13(m)(viii) of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as 

amended. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED and hereby ratified that Mayor is authorized to execute 

a one-year agreement with Azteca Systems, Inc. to provide the Cityworks license and maintenance 

support at a cost not to exceed $59,000.00 from September 8, 2023 to September 7, 2024. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             393 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

ORDER AWARDING A MATCHING GRANT TO STEWPOT COMMUNITY 

SERVICES, INC. FOR THE PROVISION OF EMERGENCY SHELTER 

SERVICES DURING SEVERE WEATHER AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR 

TO EXECUTE A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH STEWPOT 

COMMUNITY SERVICES, INC. FOR THE PROVISION OF THE SAME.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-65 of the Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), as amended, 

grants the governing authorities of a municipality to expend monies from the municipal general 

funds to match any other funds for the purpose of supporting social and community service 

programs including child and adult emergency shelters; and 

 

            WHEREAS, consistent with the provisions of Section 21-19-65 of the Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“City”) 

allocated monies in its budget for the 2023-2024 fiscal year to be expended in the municipality for 

the development and the support of social and community service programs; and 

 

WHEREAS, Stewpot Communities Services, Inc. is a public, nonprofit organization that 

has qualified for an exemption pursuant to 26 USCS Section 501 (c) (3) and is eligible to receive 

matching funds from the City of Jackson; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City is committed to ensuring that homeless persons are housed during 

severe weather periods; and 

 

            WHEREAS, during severe weather periods existing emergency shelters become filled to 

capacity and there is an overflow; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson desires to award a matching grant on a reimbursement 

basis, to Stewpot Community Services, Inc. for staffing the emergency shelter during severe 

weather periods; and 

 

WHEREAS, the cost of such services will be dependent on the number of severe weather 

days that occur during the winter months, the cost should not exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars 

($15,000); and 

 

WHEREAS, upon award of the matching grant, the City of Jackson shall enter into a 

Memorandum of Understanding(“MOU”) with Stewpot Community Services, Inc. to open the 

Opportunity Center Day Shelter when temperatures reach 40 degrees or lower; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services proposes that the Mayor 

execute a Memorandum of Understanding containing the following provisions: 

 

1. The Agency shall provide oversight and management of the Emergency Shelter at the 

Opportunity Center Day Shelter, 845 West Amite Street, Jackson, Mississippi, 39203, 

during severe weather periods, i.e. when temperatures reach 40 degrees or lower. 

 

2. The Agency shall provide the City written documentation evidencing the matching 

funds required by law. Any final request for reimbursement must be submitted by the 

Agency on or before September 5, 2024. Any allocated funds not requested on or before 

September 5, 2024 will not be approved for payment. The receipt of Stewpot written 

documentation evidencing the matching funds is a condition precedent to receiving the 

matching or reimbursement funds allocated. 

 

3. The Agency agrees to match funds contributed by the City with at least 50% from other 

funding sources consistent with the requirement of Section 39-15-1 of the Mississippi 

Code to cover operating costs at the Opportunity Center Day shelter when temperature 

reach 40 degrees or lower. 

 

4. The City shall provide funds up to Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00), to the Agency, on 

a reimbursement and matching funds basis, for the performance of the services set forth and 

specified herein. Reimbursement requests shall be submitted on a monthly basis, and payment 

by the City shall be made within forty-five (45) days after receiving from the Agency written 

documentation evidencing the matching funds required by law. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             394 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

5. This MOU shall be effective as of the date of the Jackson City Council’s action 

awarding the funds and end on or before September 30, 2024. 

 

6. The Agency shall maintain all financial and programmatic records, documents and 

other evidence related to the expenditure of funds for a minimum of three (3) years. 

Records that must be maintained include, but shall not be limited to: bank statements 

showing the disbursement of the funds contributed by the City of Jackson, related 

invoice, and expense records. The form of such records and reports shall conform to 

generally accepted accounting practices and shall sufficiently and properly reflect all 

direct and indirect costs of any nature expended in the performance of this MOU shall 

be utilized. 

 

7. The Agency must maintain a written inventory of any and all property purchased or 

leased with the City’s funds.  Title to any and all property purchased by the Agency, 

including equitable title or residual interest to leased or rental property, the cost of 

which is reimbursed by the City, shall at the time of reimbursement pass to and vest in 

the City. The Agency shall relinquish to the City any and all such property upon 

termination or expiration of this MOU or upon thirty (30) days’ notice from the City. 

 

8. The City or its authorize representative shall have the right, at any reasonable time, to 

examine the books and records of the Agency pertaining to the funds related to this 

MOU. Further, the Agency shall allow the City at any time, and from time to time, 

during reasonable business hours, to audit the books of the Agency and secure such 

other records and documents as may be necessary and appropriate under the rules and 

regulations of the City. 

 

9. The Agency will not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex (including 

pregnancy, sexual orientation, or gender identity), national origin, age, disability, and 

genetic information (including family medical history). 

 

10. The parties agree that the City’s contribution under this agreement are subject to the 

continued availability of funding and in contingent upon the City receiving sufficient 

revenues during the budget year to provide the monies allocated. 

 

11.  In the event the Agency fails to comply with any provision of this MOU, the City may 

terminate the MOU upon giving thirty (30) days written notice to the Agency. 

 

12. The Agency agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, its officers, and its 

employees from any act of or omission of the Agency, its employees, agency or 

servants, that results in the bodily injury, property damage, death of any party, or any 

other claims for damages growing out the performance of this MOU. 

 

13. The parties agree that the provisions of this MOU shall be construed according to the 

laws of the State of Mississippi. 

14. The parties agree that the provisions of this MOU constitute their entire agreement, 

and no prior oral or written representations shall be effective and operate to amend, 

alter, or vary the terms of this MOU. 

 

15. The parties agree that this MOU may not be modified except upon prior written 

consent and agreement of the parties. 

 

16. The parties agree that any and all remedies available at law and equity may be 

asserted by the City in the event of default or breach and shall not be waived. 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that a matching grant, on a reimbursement basis, in an 

amount not to exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00) is hereby awarded to Stewpot 

Community Services, Inc., for the operation of an Emergency Shelter at the Opportunity Center 

Day Shelter during FY 2023-2024. 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             395 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

           IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute a MOU 

between the City of Jackson and Stewpot Community Services, Inc. for the operation of the 

Emergency Shelter at Opportunity Center Day Shelter, as well as any and all documents related 

thereto, during the winter months of FY 2023-2024. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Javon Stanton, Director of Opportunity Center Day Shelter for 

Stewpot Community Services, and Jill Buckley, Executive Director of Stewpot Community 

Services, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE CONTRIBUTION OF MATCHING FUNDS TO 

STEWPOT COMMUNITY SERVICES FOR THE PURPOSE OF SUPPORTING 

SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY SERVICE PROGRAMS AND AUTHORIZING THE 

MAYOR TO EXECUTE A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH 

STEWPOT COMMUNITY SERVICES, INC.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-65 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, authorizes 

municipal governing authorities to expend monies from the general fund to match other funds for 

the purpose of supporting social and community service programs including child and adult 

emergency shelters; and 

 

          WHEREAS, consistent with the provisions of Section 21-19-65 of the Mississippi Code of 

1972, as amended, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“City”) allocated 

monies in its budget for the 2023-2024 fiscal year to be expended in the municipality for the 

development and the support of social and community service programs; and 

 

            WHEREAS, Stewpot Communities Services, Inc. is a public, nonprofit organization that 

has qualified for an exemption pursuant to 26 USCS Section 501 (c) (3) and is eligible to receive 

matching funds from the City of Jackson; and   

 

            WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson and its residents would be served by 

contributing matching funds to Stewpot Community Services to assist in its provision of providing 

shelter & other provisions for the homeless; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services recommends that the 

Jackson City Council authorize the sum of Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000) to be 

contributed to match other funds and resources to Stewpot Community Services, Inc. to assist in 

providing shelter & other provisions for the homeless; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services proposes that the Mayor 

execute a Memorandum of Understanding containing the following provisions: 

 

1. The Agency shall provide direct services to the homeless population in the City through 

the operation of the Opportunity House Day Shelter. The Agency may use funds to pay for 

support services directly related to the shelter’s operation. 

 

2. The Agency shall provide the City with written documentation evidencing the matching 

funds when the request for reimbursement is submitted. Any final request for 

reimbursement must be submitted by the Agency on or before September 5, 2024. Any 

allocated funds not requested on or before September 5, 2024, will not be approved for 

payment. The receipt of the written documentation evidencing the matching funds is a 

condition precedent to receiving the matching or reimbursement funds allocated. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             396 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

3. The Agency agrees to match funds contributed by the City with at least 50% from other 

funding sources consistent with the requirement of Section 39-15-1 of the Mississippi 

Code. 

 

4. The City shall remit Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($35,000.00), to the Agency, on   a 

reimbursement and matching funds basis, for performance of the services set forth and 

specified herein.  Said funds shall not be released until the City receives documentation of 

matching funds received by the Agency in the amount of $35,000 or greater. 

 

5. This MOU shall be effective as of the date of the Jackson City Council’s action awarding 

the funds and end on or before September 30, 2024. 

 

6. The Agency shall maintain all financial and programmatic records, documents and other 

evidence related to the expenditure of funds for a minimum of three (3) years.  Records 

that must be maintained include, but shall not be limited to: monthly bank statements 

showing all disbursement of the funds contributed by the City of Jackson, related invoices, 

and expense records.  The form of such records and reports shall conform to generally 

accepted accounting practices, and shall sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and 

indirect costs of any nature expended in the performance of this Contract shall be utilized. 

 

7. The City or its authorized representatives shall have the right, at any reasonable time, to 

examine the books and records of the Agency pertaining to funds related to this Contract. 

Further, the Agency shall allow the City at any time, and from time to time, during 

reasonable business hours, to audit the books of the Agency and secure such other records 

and documents as may be necessary and appropriate under the rules and regulations of the 

City. 

 

8. The Agency must maintain a written inventory of any and all property purchased or leased 

with the City’s funds.  Title to any and all property purchased by the Agency, including 

equitable title or residual interest to leased or rental property, the cost of which is 

reimbursed by the City, shall at the time of reimbursement pass to and vest in the City. The 

Agency shall relinquish to the City any and all such property upon termination or expiration 

of this Contract or upon thirty (30) days’ notice from the City. 

 

9. The Agency will not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, sex (including 

pregnancy, sexual orientation, or gender identity), national origin, age, disability, and 

genetic information (including family medical history). 

 

10. The parties agree that the City’s contributions under this agreement is subject to the 

continued availability of funding and in contingent upon the City receiving sufficient 

revenues during the budget year to provide the monies allocated. 

 

11. In the event the Agency fails to comply with any provision of this Contract, the City may 

terminate the Contract upon giving thirty (30) days written notice to the Agency. 
 

12. The Agency agrees to indemnify and save harmless the City, its officers, and employees 

from any act of or omission of the Agency, its employees, agency or servants, that results 

in the bodily injury, property damage, death of any party, or any other claims for damages 

growing out of the performance of this MOU. 

 

13. The parties agree that the provisions of this Contract shall be construed according to the 

laws of the State of Mississippi. 

 

14. The parties agree that the provisions of this Contract constitute their entire agreement, and 

no prior oral or written representations shall be effective and operate to amend, alter, or 

vary the terms of this Contract. 

 

15. The parties agree that this Contract may not be modified except upon prior written consent 

and agreement of the parties. 

 

16. The parties agree that any and all remedies available at law and or in equity may be asserted 

by the City in the event of default or breach and shall not be waived. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             397 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that an award not to exceed Thirty-Five Thousand 

Dollars ($35,000.00) is authorized to Stewpot Community Services to provide social and 

community services programs under Section 21-19-65 of the Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), 

as amended. 

 

            IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a 

Memorandum of Understanding with Stewpot Community Services to govern the award and 

receipt of the matching funds contributed. 

 

 Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF EIGHT HUNDRED 

AND FORTY DOLLARS TO MOODY MANAGEMENT OF MISSISSIPPI, LLC TO 

PROVIDE TWELVE EMPLOYEES WITH CPR, FIRST AID, AND AUTOMATED 

EXTERNAL DEFIBRILLATOR (AED) TRAINING AT THE DEPARTMENT OF 

HUMAN AND CULTURAL SERVICES.  

WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services Senior Services Division 

operates six senior centers and a nutrition site within the City of Jackson; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Senior Services Division receives state funds through the Mississippi 

Department of Human Services Division of Aging and Adult Services; and 

 

             WHEREAS, as a result, the city must comply with the Division of Aging and Adult 

Services’ Quality Assurance Standard that all staff must receive orientation and ongoing training 

per year to enhance quality of care and job performance. Each employee must receive training in 

CPR and first aid; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the Senior Services Division recommends to the governing authorities for 

the city to authorize payment to Moody Management of MS LLC to provide CPR, first aid, and 

AED training on December 14, 2023, for 12 staff members at $70.00 per person for a two-year 

certification; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the best interest of the city of Jackson and its citizenry would be served by 

authorizing the payment to Moody Management of Mississippi, LLC to conduct CPR, first aid, 

and AED training at a cost not to exceed Eight Hundred and Forty Dollars and No Cents (840.00). 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payment to Moody Management of Mississippi, LLC 

be authorized to conduct CPR, first aid, and AED training on December 14, 2023, for twelve staff 

members at seventy dollars ($70.00) per person at a cost not to exceed Eight Hundred and Forty 

Dollars and No Cents ($840.00) for the Department of Human and Cultural Services Senior 

Services Division. 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Connie Taylor, Senior Services Manager, City of Jackson, 

Catoria Martin, City Attorney and Willie Owens, Fire Chief, who provided a brief overview 

of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – Foote. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             398 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE TEN COMMERCIAL 

SERVICES AGREEMENTS WITH INTEGRATED PEST CONTROL 

MAINTENANCE (IPCM) TO PROVIDE PEST CONTROL SERVICES AT TEN 

FACILITIES MANAGED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN AND CULTURAL 

SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 

FIVE THOUSAND AND SIXTY-FOUR DOLLARS AND NO CENTS.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code states that the governing authorities 

of every municipality in the state shall have the care, management, and control of municipal affairs 

and its property and finances and may adopt orders, resolutions, or ordinances with respect to same 

which are not inconsistent with the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, the Mississippi Code of 1972, 

or any other statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the power granted to governing authorities of municipalities by Section 21-

17-5 is complete without the existence of or reference to any specific authority granted in any other 

statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the following buildings are under the auspices of the Department of Human 

and Cultural Services and need pest control services: Mississippi Arts Center, Russell C. Davis 

Planetarium, Smith Robertson Museum, Thalia Mara Hall, Municipal Art Gallery, Smith 

Robertson Senior Citizens Center, Sykes Park Senior Citizens Center, T.L. Love Senior Citizens 

Center, Johnnie Champion Senior Citizens Center, and Tougaloo Senior Citizens Center; and 

 

         WHEREAS, pest control services are necessary for the facilities mentioned above to 

ensure the safety and well-being of the citizens and patrons of the City of Jackson; and  

 

           WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services recommends that the City 

of Jackson enter into a Commercial Services Agreement with IPCM with the cost and frequency 

of pest control services, as follows: 

 

1. Mississippi Arts Center shall be $90.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM shall 

provide service to the Mississippi Arts Center bi-monthly. 

 

2. Russell C. Davis Planetarium shall be $127.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM 

shall provide service to the Russell C. Davis Planetarium bi-monthly. 

 

3. Smith Robertson Museum shall be $112.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM shall 

provide service to the Smith Robertson Museum bi-monthly. 

 

4. Thalia Mara Hall shall be $93.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM shall provide 

service to the Thalia Mara Hall bi-monthly. 

 

5. Municipal Art Gallery shall be $90.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM shall 

provide service to the Municipal Art Gallery bi-monthly. 

 

6. Smith Robertson Senior Citizens Center shall be $70.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. 

IPCM shall provide service to the Smith Robertson Senior Citizens Center bi-

monthly. 

 

7. Sykes Park Senior Citizens Center shall be $72.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. 

IPCM shall provide service to the Sykes Park Senior Citizens Center bi-monthly. 

 

8. T. L. Love Senior Citizens Center shall be $60.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM 

shall provide service to the T. L. Love Senior Citizens Center bi-monthly. 

 

9. Johnnie Champion Senior Citizens Center shall be $60.00 plus tax of $0.00 per 

service. IPCM shall provide service to the Johnnie Champion Senior Citizens Center 

bi-monthly. 

 

10. Tougaloo Senior Citizens Center shall be $70.00 plus tax of $0.00 per service. IPCM 

shall provide service to the Tougaloo Senior Citizens Center bi-monthly 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             399 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

            WHEREAS, the total cost of providing pest control services at the facilities mentioned 

above under the Department of Human and Cultural Services is Five Thousand and Sixty-

Four Dollars and No Cents ($5,064.00); and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Commercial Services Agreement will automatically cancel after twelve 

(12) months and a new service agreement must be entered into; and 

 

            WHEREAS, services may be canceled at any time during the twelve (12) month service 

agreement as long as a thirty (30) day notice of cancellation has been received by IPCM. Once a 

cancellation notice has been received, the account will be considered inactive and after thirty (30) 

days, no additional charges will be assessed; and 

 

            WHEREAS, upon request, IPCM shall furnish to the City of Jackson a certificate of 

liability insurance coverage in effect. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute ten Commercial 

Services Agreements with  Integrated Pest Control Maintenance to provide pest control services 

at Mississippi Arts Center, Russell C. Davis Planetarium, Smith Robertson Museum, Thalia Mara 

Hall, Municipal Art Gallery, Smith Robertson Senior Citizens Center, Sykes Park Senior Citizens 

Center, T. L. Love Senior Citizens Center, Johnnie Champion Senior Citizens Center,  and 

Tougaloo Senior Citizens Center for twelve months in an amount not to exceed Five Thousand 

and Sixty-Four Dollars and No Cents ($5,064.00). 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PAST SERVICES PERFORMED AND APPROVING 

PAYMENT TO IHEARTMEDIA + ENTERTAINMENT INC. FOR PROVIDING 

RADIO ADVERTISING SERVICES FOR THE JACKSON ZOO’S BLUE 

BELLICE CREAM SAFARI, SAID ADVERTISING SPOTS RAN ON LOCAL 

RADIO STATIONS FROM JULY 11, 2023, TO JULY 22, 2023, IN THE AMOUNT 

OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00).  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo hosted the Blue Bell Ice Cream Safari on July 22, 2023, 

from 11 a.m. to 2 p.m. which attracted one-hundred-and-one (101) volunteers and one thousand 

two hundred eighteen (1,218) attendees; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Blue Bell Ice Cream Safari is an annual social event for the Jackson Zoo; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, iHeart Media + Entertainment INC (iHeart Media) provided radio 

advertising services for the Jackson Zoo promoting the Blue Bell Ice Cream Safari event at a cost 

of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, iHeart Media broadcasted three hundred seventeen (317) radio 

advertisements split amongst WHLH-FM, WMSI-FM, WJDX-FM, and WSTZ-FM from July 11, 

2023, to July 22, 2023, said advertising spots having an estimated Six Hundred Fifty-Seven 

Thousand (657,000) gross impressions; and 

 

WHEREAS, iHeart Media is a for-profit corporation incorporated in the State of Nevada, 

currently in Good Standing with the Mississippi Secretary of State, having registered with the State 

of Mississippi on December 24, 1997; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the above-described radio 

advertising services already provided by iHeart Media be ratified and that payment in the amount 

of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) be approved and made to iHeart Media. 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             400 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above-described radio advertising services provided 

by iHeart Media is ratified and that payment in the amount of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($2,000.00) be made to iHeart Media for said advertising services from account number 

390.498.00-6419. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PAST SERVICES PERFORMED AND APPROVING 

PAYMENT TO GULF STATES GOLF CARTS, LLC FOR REPAIR WORK AND 

MAINTENANCE TO GOLF CARTS AT THE PETE BROWN GOLF FACILITY IN 

THE AMOUNT OF SIX HUNDRED THREE DOLLARS AND SIXTY CENTS 

($603.60).  

WHEREAS, Gulf States Golf Carts LLC (Gulf States Golf) provided service and 

maintenance to golf carts located at the City of Jackson Pete Brown Golf Facility in June 2023; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Gulf States Golf made repairs to four (4) golf carts; and 

 

WHEREAS, the knuckle arms and a muffler arm were replaced on the golf carts; and 

 

WHEREAS, Gulf States Golf charged Six Hundred Three Dollars and Sixty Cents 

($603.60) for the maintenance and repair of said golf carts; and 

 

WHEREAS, Gulf States Golf is a limited liability company, currently in good standing 

with the Mississippi Secretary of State, created pursuant to the Laws of the State of Mississippi on 

September 23, 2019; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson that the above-mentioned 

maintenance and repair work be ratified and payment in the amount of Six Hundred Three Dollars 

and Sixty Cents ($603.60) be made to Gulf States Golf. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above-described golf cart maintenance and repair 

services performed by Gulf States Golf are ratified and that payment in the amount of Six Hundred 

Three Dollars and Sixty Cents ($603.60) be made to Gulf States Golf from the Parks and 

Recreation Department’s Fiscal Year 2023 budget as said work was performed in the 2023 fiscal 

year. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE SERVICES FROM AND 

PAYMENTS TO FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISES, LLC TO PROVIDE 

VEGETATION, UNDERBRUSH, AND FENCING REMOVAL FROM A 

DAMAGED BIRD EXHIBIT AT THE JACKSON ZOO THAT WAS DAMAGED BY 

FALLEN TREES DURING SEVERE THUNDERSTORMS IN JUNE AND 

JULY2023.  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo sustained damages from fallen trees during severe storms in 

June and July of 2023 that completely disfigured a bird exhibit and made said exhibit unsafe for 

the birds, zoo employees, and zoo patrons; and 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             401 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo (acting through the City of Jackson Parks and Recreation 

Department) requested a quote from Four Seasons Enterprises LLC (Four Seasons) for the removal 

of said vegetation, underbrush, and damaged fencing from the bird exhibit; and 

 

WHEREAS, Four Seasons provided a quote in the amount of Three Thousand Nine 

Hundred Dollars ($3,900.00) for the removal of all vegetation, underbrush, and destroyed fencing 

from the bird exhibit; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo agreed to provide a disposal site and trucking to said 

disposal site for the items being removed; and 

 

WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises is a Limited Liability Company created pursuant 

to the Laws of the State of Mississippi on June 02, 2004, and is currently in good standing with 

the State of Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, the removal of said vegetation, underbrush, and damaged fencing from the 

bird exhibit located at the Jackson Zoo is in the best interests of the City of Jackson. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the above-described services be approved and a 

payment in the amount of Three Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars ($3,900.00) be approved and 

made to Four Seasons Enterprises from account no. 390-498.00-6419. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any agreements 

and/or documents needed to effectuate the removal of the above items from the bird exhibit at the 

Jackson Zoo. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE SERVICES FROM AND 

PAYMENTS TO EFFICIENT POWER & LIGHT, LLC FOR THE PROVISION OF 

MECHANIC SERVICES FOR SPECIALIZED GOLF COURSE EQUIPMENT. 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Parks and Recreation Department owns several pieces of 

specialized mowing and golf course related equipment; and 

 

WHEREAS, this specialized equipment requires maintenance procedures that exceed the 

scope of normal small engine repair shops; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City, in the past, primarily sent its specialized equipment discussed above 

out for repair and service work to Canton, Mississippi, or Memphis, Tennessee, which incurred 

additional downtime as well as shipping and freight charges; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City owned Fairway Mower #RLM-0175 needs complete servicing 

which includes changing of fluids and filters as well height adjustments and grinding services to 

each of the five mowing reels; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City owned Fairway Mower #RLM-0159 needs complete servicing 

which includes changing of fluids and filters as well height adjustments and grinding services to 

each of the five mowing reels; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City owned Greens Mower #RLM-0176 needs complete servicing which 

includes changing of fluids and filters as well height adjustments and grinding services to each of 

the three mowing reels; and 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             402 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the City owned Greens Mower #RLM-0139 needs complete servicing which 

includes changing of fluids and filters as well height adjustments and grinding services to each of 

the three mowing reels; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s current primary vendor for the above-described servicing and 

repair work charges One Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars ($125) per hour in labor; and 

 

WHEREAS, Efficient Power & Light is a Limited Liability Company, currently in Good 

Standing with the State of Mississippi, created pursuant to the Laws of the State of Mississippi on 

July 12, 2018; and 

 

WHEREAS, Efficient Power & Light charges Ninety Dollars ($90) per-hour in labor for 

the same servicing and repair work described above; and 

 

WHEREAS, Efficient Power & Light would make the repairs and servicing described 

above on-site at the Pete Brown Golf Facility which avoids excessive freight and shipping charges; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Efficient Power & Light estimates that the above-described servicing and 

repair work for the specialized golf equipment would require fifty (50) hours of labor, totaling 

Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($4,500.00) at (Ninety Dollars ($90.00) per labor hour); and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City to have its specialized pieces of mowing 

and golf related equipment serviced in a faster and more cost-efficient manner on-site by Efficient 

Power & Light for a cost not to exceed Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($4,500.00). 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the servicing and repairs described above for the 

Parks & Recreation Department’s specialized mowing and golf equipment may be performed by 

Efficient Power & Light on-site at the Pete Brown Golf Facility. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to Efficient Power & Light for said servicing 

and repairs shall not exceed Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($4,500.00) and that payment 

shall be made from account number 005.504.30-6419 for providing up to fifty (50) hours of labor 

at the rate of Ninety Dollars ($90.00) per hour. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute any agreements 

and/or documents to effectuate the above-described specialized repair service provided by 

Efficient Power & Light. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER DECLARING PARCEL NUMBERS 437-2-1 AND 437-3 SURPLUS 

PROPERTY AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE SALE 

CONTRACT, DEED OF CONVEYANCE, AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 

NECESSARY TO SELL SAID PROPERTY TO JAMES COVINGTON.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson owns certain real property and any improvements thereon 

designated as parcel numbers 437-2-1 and 437-3 in the Hinds County Landroll; and 

 

WHEREAS, parcel number 437-2-1 is that same property recorded in the Office of the 

Chancery Clerk of Hinds County in Book 2364 at Page 0667 and more particularly described as 

follows: BEG INT E/L MANHATTAN RD & S/L NORTHSIDE DR S 200.58 FT TO POB E 

284.01 FT S 110 FT W 293.97 FT N110FT TO POB LOTS 145 THRU 155 & PT LOT 156 

MANHATTAN SUBN IN SEC 24 T6N R1E; and 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             403 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, parcel number 437-3 is that same property recorded in the Office of the 

Chancery Clerk of Hinds County in Book 1218 at Page 0602 and more particularly described as 

follows: BEG INT S/LINE N SIDE DR & E/LINE MANHATTAN DR E 200 FT S 180 FT W 

205.66 FT N 180.16 FT TO P O B IN NW 1/4 SEC 24 T6N R1E; and 

WHEREAS, after being notified of the availability of City-owned surplus real property, 

no City department expressed a municipal need for parcels numbers 437-2-1 and 437-3; and 

  WHEREAS, on February 16, 2023, the City of Jackson’s Surplus Property Committee 

voted to recommend to the governing authorities that the above-referenced parcels be declared 

surplus property and sold by advertising for and accepting competitive bids as set forth in 

Mississippi Code Section 21-17-1(2)(a), with a minimum acceptable bid of $60,000.00; and  

WHEREAS, the Surplus Property Committee issued a notice of request for bids that was 

published for three consecutive weeks in the Mississippi Link and through Central Bidding on 

March 16, 2023, March 23, 2023, and March 30, 2023; and  

WHEREAS, the highest of two bids received was submitted by James Covington in the 

amount of Seventy Thousand One Hundred Ninety-Nine Dollars and ninety-nine cents 

($70,199.99); and 

  WHEREAS, the Surplus Property Committee recommends that the governing authorities 

declare the property surplus and authorize its sale to James Covington pursuant to Mississippi 

Code Section 21-17-1(2)(a).  

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that parcel numbers 437-2-1 and 437-3 are no longer needed 

for governmental or related purposes of the City and are declared to be surplus property.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute the sale 

contract, deed of conveyance, and any other documents necessary to sell parcel numbers 437-2-1 

and 437-3 to James Covington for the amount of Seventy Thousand One Hundred Ninety-Nine 

dollars and ninety-nine cents ($70,199.99).  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that consistent with the provisions of Mississippi Code 

Section 21-17-1(2)(a), the instrument conveying the property to James Covington shall reserve all 

mineral rights, together with the rights of ingress and egress for the removal of same. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT FOR 

HOME FUNDS THROUGH THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND GCHP- MIDTOWN 

LP.  

WHEREAS, in 2022 the Department of Planning and Development accepted proposals 

for the use of HOME funds within the Division of Housing and Community Development; and 

 

WHEREAS, GCHP-Midtown submitted a response to the Request for Proposals for the 

use of HOME funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, GCHP-Midtown has a principal office located at 1626A Oretha Castle Haley 

Blvd. New Orleans, Louisiana 70113; and 

 

            WHEREAS, GCHP-Midtown has been awarded $850,410.00 (eight hundred fifty 

thousand four hundred ten) in HOME funds to provide certain development and construction cost 

relating to a 27-unit (twenty-seven) affordable housing development project located in the City of 

Jackson; and 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             404 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 WHEREAS, the total development cost for the 27-unit (twenty-seven) affordable housing 

development project is $12,233,917.00 (twelve million two hundred thirty-three thousand nine 

hundred seventeen). 

 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

GCHP-Midtown to provide certain development and construction cost relating to a 27-unit 

(twenty-seven) affordable housing development project located in the City of Jackson. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, Mary 

Elizabeth Evans, of Gold Coast Housing Partnership and Kristine Hendrix, Executive 

Director of Midtown Partners, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING REVISING THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT’S FISCAL YEAR 2024 BUDGET TO REVISE AND 

REALLOCATE FUNDS ACROSS CATEGORIES FROM PROGRAM YEARS (PY) 

2019 AND 2020 HOME INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIP (HOME) GRANT FUNDS.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson signed funding approvals and grant agreements for Grant 

Number M-19-MC-28-0200 on December 4, 2019 and Grant Number M-20-MC-28-0200 on 

August 20, 2021, for the HOME Investment Partnership Program; and 

 

WHEREAS, on October 12, 2021, the City Council authorized the award of $1,165,438.00 

for seven (7) HOME funded units to the Gulf Coast Housing Partnership, Inc. and 

 

WHEREAS, there are account line items in the Office of Housing and Community 

Development HOME budget requiring Council approval for funds to be revised and reallocated 

across categories; and 

 

WHEREAS, the following funds would be revised and reallocated as follows: 

 

To/From         Fund/AccountNumber                                             Amount    

               

From:             HOME Program Grant M-19-MC-28-0200 

                       120-90117-6742 (Contribution to Other Agencies)   $543,507.00 

 

HOME Program Grant M-20-MC-28-0200 

120-90110-6736 (Contingency)                                 $621,931.00 

 

To:                   HOME Program Grant M-20-MC-28-0200 

120-90117-6824 (Capital Outlay)                              $1,165,438.00 

 

WHEREAS, this transfer of $1,165,438.00 is in statutory compliance with section 21-35-

25 of the Mississippi code Annotated, as amended, as this amendment does not exceed ten percent 

(10%) of the total budget amount appropriated to the Department of Planning and Development’s 

2024 Fiscal Year Budget or to the HOME Program Year 2019-2022 Budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Department of Planning and Development’s 

Fiscal Year 2024 Budget be revised for the HOME Investment Partnership grant Program Year 

2019 and Program Year 2020, authorizing the Pearl Senior Living Community in the amount of 

$1,165.438.00 as follows: 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             405 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

To/From         Fund/Account Number                                             Amount 

 

From:               HOME Program Grant M-19-MC-28-0200 

120-90117-6742 (Contribution to Other Agencies)    $543,507.00 

 

HOME Program Grant M-20-MC-28-0200 

120-90110-6736 (Contingency)                                 $621,931.00 

 

To:                   HOME Program Grant M-20-MC-28-0200 

120-90117-6824 (Capital Outlay)                           $1,165,438.00 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT TO 

OPERATION A DOWNPAYMENT ASSISTANCE PROGRAM FOR HOME 

OWNERSHIP THROUGH THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITYOF JACKSON AND HOPE CREDIT 

UNION ENTERPRISE CORPORATION.  

WHEREAS, on September 1, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development 

published a Request for Proposal to operate the City of Jackson’s Down Payment Assistance 

Program for homeownership; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation submitted a response to the 

Request for Proposal on October 17, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation has a principal location at 4 Old 

River Place Jackson, MS 39202; and 

 

            WHEREAS, Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation is requesting up to $1,063,618.00 

(one million sixty-three thousand six hundred eighteen) in HOME funds to provide down payment 

assistance to future homeowners in the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation will leverage requested HOME 

funds with an estimated $10,800,000.00 (ten million eight hundred thousand) in capital loans made 

to Jackson homebuyers; and 

 

WHEREAS, using requested HOME funds, Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation 

will provide up to $15,000.00 (fifteen thousand) in down payment assistance to future homeowners 

in the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation will provide first mortgage 

products, financial literacy and homebuyer education resulting in an estimated saving of 

$46,000.00 (forty-six thousand) per borrower over a 30-year term (thirty).  

 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

Hope Credit Union Enterprise Corporation to operate the City of Jackson’s Down Payment 

Assistance Program for homeownership through the Department of Planning and Development 

Division of Housing and Community Development. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             406 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development and Alex 

Lawson, Senior Vice President of Hope Credit Union, who provided a brief overview of said 

item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

recommended an amendment to amend said Order to change the name “Hope Credit Union 

Enterprise Corporation” to “Hope Enterprise Corporation” throughout the Order. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Council Member Hartley who moved; seconded by Vice President Lee, to amend said order to 

reflect the changes as stated by Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development. The 

motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on item as amended: 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT TO 

OPERATION A DOWNPAYMENT ASSISTANCE PROGRAM FOR HOME 

OWNERSHIP THROUGH THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITYOF JACKSON AND HOPE 

ENTERPRISE CORPORATION.  

WHEREAS, on September 1, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development 

published a Request for Proposal to operate the City of Jackson’s Down Payment Assistance 

Program for homeownership; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Enterprise Corporation submitted a response to the Request for 

Proposal on October 17, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Enterprise Corporation has a principal location at 4 Old River Place 

Jackson, MS 39202; and 

 

            WHEREAS, Hope Enterprise Corporation is requesting up to $1,063,618 (one million 

sixty-three thousand six hundred eighteen) in HOME funds to provide down payment assistance 

to future homeowners in the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Enterprise Corporation will leverage requested HOME funds with an 

estimated $10,800,000.00 (ten million eight hundred thousand) in capital loans made to Jackson 

homebuyers; and 

 

WHEREAS, using requested HOME funds, Hope Enterprise Corporation will provide up 

to $15,000.00 (fifteen thousand) in down payment assistance to future homeowners in the City of 

Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, Hope Enterprise Corporation will provide first mortgage products, financial 

literacy and homebuyer education resulting in an estimated saving of $46,000.00 (forty-six 

thousand) per borrower over a 30-year term (thirty). 

 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

Hope Enterprise Corporation to operate the City of Jackson’s Down Payment Assistance Program 

for homeownership through the Department of Planning and Development Division of Housing 

and Community Development. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             407 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE SUPPLEMENTAL 

AGREEMENT NO. 4 AND RELATED DOCUMENTS TO THE AGREEMENT 

WITH CONNETICS TRANSPORTATION GROUP TO COMPLETE AND 

IMPLEMENT THE BUS NETWORK PLAN FOR THE JACKSON PUBLIC 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN). 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s public transportation system needs a Bus Network Plan, a 

long-range vision to reshape the current transit network that will support mobility options, enhance 

transportation corridors, and integrate land-use policies with a well-connected transportation system; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 4, 2020, Minute Book 6R, page 380, the governing authorities 

authorized the Mayor to execute an agreement with Connetics Transportation Group to conduct a 

transportation plan study of the City’s public transit system at a total cost not to exceed $399,576.00; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 17, 2021, Minute Book 6T, page 426-427, the governing authorities 

authorized the Mayor to execute Extension#1 with Connetics Transportation Group to conduct a 

transportation plan study of the City’s public transit system at no additional cost to extend the time 

needed to complete the transit study plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, on December 21, 2021, Minute Book 6U, page 295, the governing authorities 

authorized the Mayor to execute Extension#2 with Connetics Transportation Group to complete and 

implement the bus network plan for Jackson Public Transportation System at a total amount not to 

exceed four hundred sixty-one thousand seven hundred and eighty-two dollars ($461,782.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, on December 6, 2022, Minute Book 6W, page 426-427, the governing 

authorities authorized the Mayor to execute Extension#3 with Connetics Transportation Group to 

conduct a transportation plan study of the City’s public transit system at no additional cost to extend 

the time needed to complete the transit study plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, Connetics Transportation Group experienced a delay in getting all procurements 

completed for signage, apps, GTFS data, and finalizing run cutting; and 

 

WHEREAS, acknowledging that neither the scope of work nor the cost has changed, the 

Department of Planning and Development, through its Transit Division, has determined that it is in 

the best interest of the City to continue to utilize the services of Connetics Transportation Group until 

the implementation of the new transit network; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Transit Division is recommending that the governing authorities 

authorize the Mayor to execute an amendment and related documents to the agreement with 

Connetics Transportation Group to extend the time needed to complete the transit study plan 

project, with no change in the scope of work or the original cost. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities hereby authorizes the 

Mayor to execute an amendment and related documents to the agreement with Connetics 

Transportation Group to extend the time needed to implement the new transit network for an 

additional twelve (12) months expiring on December 31, 2024. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Transit Division is authorized to pay Connetics 

Transportation Group the three hundred thirty-three thousand two hundred and thirty dollars and 

twenty-three cents ($333,230.23) remaining from Extension#2 agreement to complete and 

implement the bus network plan for Jackson Public Transportation System. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             408 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE EVENT LICENSE 

AGREEMENT WITH THE CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER 

COMMISSION TO HOST THE CITY OF JACKSON’S DOING BUSINESS WITH 

THE CITY INFORMATION AND NETWORKING RECEPTION ON DECEMBER 

7, 2023, AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND 

TWO HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIX DOLLARS AND EIGHTY CENTS.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code vests the care, custody, and control 

of municipal property and affairs with the municipality; and  

 

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code authorizes a municipality to adopt 

orders concerning municipal affairs, property, and finances that are not inconsistent with the 

Mississippi Constitution of 1980, the Mississippi Code of 1972, and any other statute or law of the 

State of Mississippi; and  

 

WHEREAS, in an effort to increase the levels of minority business participation in the 

City of Jackson and to increase the resources available to assist minority businesses in increasing 

their capacity, the Office of Economic Development (OED) entered into a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) with the National League of Cities Institute (NLCI) Southern Cities 

Economic Inclusion Initiative (SCEI); and  

 

WHEREAS, this strategic partnership allows the City to share and exchange resources 

with NLC-SCEI, thus enhancing the effectiveness of our business outreach efforts to bring 

minority sub-contractors to the table to learn about City contracting opportunities and Procurement 

Protocols to obtain said contracts; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development, through its Office of 

Economic Development, proposed that the City of Jackson host a one-day networking event at the 

Jackson Convention Complex (“JCC”) to provide space for the execution of sessions and 

workshops focusing on “City Contracting and Procurement Opportunities” on Thursday, 

December 7, 2023, from 6 p.m. to 9 p.m.; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson recognizes that networking for the minority business 

community is a necessary tool to increase capacity and awareness; and WHEREAS, the 

Department of Planning and Development, through its Office of Economic Development, 

recommends that the City of Jackson execute an event license agreement with Capital City 

Convention Center Commission, located at 105 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39207, 

that will contain the following provisions; and  

 

WHEREAS, based upon the terms, conditions, covenants and considerations hereinafter 

set forth, Licensor and Licensee, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows License 

Agreement and will defend the Licensor from any such suit or action, whether it be groundless or 

fraudulent; and  

 

WHEREAS, Capital City Convention Center Commission with its offices located at 105 

E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39207, will not charge the City a fee to use portions of 

the JCC, but will charge Six Thousand Two Hundred and Twenty-Six Dollars and Eighty cents 

$6,226.80 for security, food/beverage and audio/video.  

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute the event license 

agreement and related documents to use the Jackson Convention Complex to host the “Doing 

Business with the City” Information and Networking Event on December 7, 2023. 

 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Department of Planning and Development is 

authorized to pay Six Thousand Two Hundred and Twenty-Six Dollars and Eighty cents $6,226.80 

for security, food/beverage and audio/video for the event. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Stokes. 

Absent – None.  



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             409 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR KMG FILMS FOR THE 13th 

ANNUAL DOING BUSINESS WITH THE CITY.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson hosts an annual Doing Business with the City 

(“DBWTC”), which provides an arena for minority and women-owned business enterprises to 

network and learn about City updates, processes, and community development projects; and  

 

WHEREAS, on December 7, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development/Office 

of Economic Development will host its 13th Annual DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development/Office of 

Economic Development received one (1) quote for professional services for videography and 

photography services at DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson's intention to award a professional services purchase 

order to KMG Films for event videography and photography services for DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is one thousand two hundred dollars 

($1,200.00) and will be covered by the National League of Cities/Southern Cities Economic 

Inclusion Grant budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 

services purchase order with KMG Films to provided videography and photography services for 

DBWTC. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to KMG Films during the 

term of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed one thousand two hundred 

dollars ($1,200.00). 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR WE MARQUEE, LLC TO RENT 

AND INSTALL MARQUEE LETTERS AT THE 13TH ANNUAL DOING BUSINESS 

WITH THE CITY.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson hosts an annual Doing Business with the City 

(“DBWTC"), which provides an arena for minority and women-owned business enterprises to 

network and learn about City updates, processes, and community development projects; and  

 

WHEREAS, on December 7, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development/Office 

of Economic Development will host its 13th Annual DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development/Office of 

Economic Development received one (1) quote for professional services for marquee letter rental 

and installation at DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson's intention to award a professional services purchase 

order to We Marquee, LLC for marquee letter rental and installation at DBWTC; and 

  

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is nine hundred fifty-five dollars and 

forty cents ($955.40) and will be covered by the National League of Cities/Southern Cities 

Economic Inclusion Grant budget. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             410 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 

services purchase order with We Marquee, LLC to rent and install marquee letters for DBWTC.  

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to We Marquee, LLC 

during the term of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed nine hundred fifty-

five dollars and forty cents ($955.40). 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR THE EXPERIENCE PRO 

SOUND AND LIGHTING FOR THE 13th ANNUAL DOING BUSINESS WITH THE 

CITY.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson hosts an annual Doing Business with the City 

(“DBWTC”), which provides an arena for minority and women-owned business enterprises to 

network and learn about City updates, processes, and community development projects; and 

  

WHEREAS, on December 7, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development /Office 

of Economic Development will host its 13th Annual DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development/Office of 

Economic Development received one (1) quote for professional services for event lighting and 

music at DBWTC; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson's intention to award a professional services purchase 

order to The Experience Pro Sound and Lighting for event lighting and music for DBWTC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is one thousand five hundred dollars 

($1,500.00) and will be covered by the National League of Cities/Southern Cities Economic 

Inclusion Grant budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 

services purchase order with The Experience Pro Sound and Lighting to provide event lighting 

and music for DBWTC. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to The Experience Pro 

Sound and Lighting during the term of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed 

one thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00). 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO COLDWELL BANKER RICHARD 

ELLIS (CBRE) AND INSITE VALUATIONS TO CONDUCT APPRAISAL 

SERVICES FOR CITY OF JACKSON OWNED LAND THAT WAS DECLARED 

SURPLUS PROPERTY BY THE SURPLUS PROPERTY COMMITTEE.  

WHEREAS, on March 16, 2023 Marc Rowe submitted an application to the Surplus 

Property Division to acquire the following twenty-three (23) land parcel numbers for commercial 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             411 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

development: 75-50, 79-6, 79-7, 79-9, 79-10, 79-11, 79-12, 79-21, 79-26, 79-26-1, 80-16, 80-17, 

80-18, 80-19, 80-20, 80-23, 80-24, 80-26, 80-7-2, 80-8-1, 80-8-3, 80-8-4, and 80-9; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Surplus Property Committee declared the parcels surplus property                                           

and recommended that they be sold to Marc Rowe for fair market price as determined by two (2) 

professional property appraisers and as set forth in Mississippi Code Section 21-17-1(2)(b)(i); and 

WHEREAS, after no city department expressed a municipal need for the property, the 

Surplus Property Division issued a request for appraisal service quotes to five (5) certified 

appraisers; and 

WHEREAS, the two lowest quotes were received from Coldwell Banker Richard Ellis 

(CBRE) in the amount of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00) and from Insite 

Valuations in the amount of Two Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty Dollars ($2,950.00); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-17-1, Marc Rowe will reimburse the City in the 

amount of Two Thousand Seven Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars ($2,725.00), which is fifty per cent 

(50%) of the appraisal fees. 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City is authorized to pay CBRE in the amount 

of Two Thousand Five Hundred dollars ($2,500.00) and Insite Valuations in the amount of Two 

Thousand Nine Hundred dollars ($2,950.00) for appraisal of City of Jackson owned parcel 

numbers 75-50, 79-6, 79-7, 79-9, 79-10, 79-11, 79-12, 79-21, 79-26, 79-26-1, 80-16, 80-17, 80-

18, 80-19, 80-20, 80-23, 80-24, 80-26, 80-7-2, 80-8-1, 80-8-3 80-8-4, & 80-9 for the purpose of 

establishing fair market price for which the property may be sold to Marc Rowe. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $5,450.00 shall be 

paid for the appraisal service rendered from funds budgeted for the Department of Planning and 

Development. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING FINAL PAYMENT TO THE CONTRACT OF 

HEMPHILL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC., FOR SANITARY SEWER 

LATERAL REPAIR WORK AT 350 MEADOWBROOK ROAD AND 

AUTHORIZING PUBLICATION OF THE NOTICE OF COMPLETION.  

WHEREAS, a sanitary sewer lateral line that serves a business at 350 Meadowbrook Road 

failed after the street was resurfaced but before the project was accepted resulting in cracked 

asphalt; and 

 

WHEREAS, because the failure occurred during a federal-aid transportation project, 

which requires the City to ensure that the project is completed, the City needed to hire a contractor 

to make a point repair and repair the resurfaced street prior to final inspection of the federal aid 

project; and 

 

WHEREAS, because of these public safety and environmental dangers, the Mayor 

invoked the emergency procurement process, pursuant to Section 31-7-13 (k); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the emergency procurement process, a contract was executed 

with Hemphill Construction Company, Inc. for an amount not to exceed $20,000.00, with said 

contract ratified by the City Council; and 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             412 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, upon completion of the work, the total charges were $19,694.98, resulting in 

a reduction in the contract amount of $305.02; and 

 

WHEREAS, the bonding company Federal Insurance Company, Attorney-in-fact, surety 

on performance of the said contract, has authorized release and payment of all money due under 

said contract. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment in the amount of $19,694.98 is 

authorized to Hemphill Construction Company, Inc. for sanitary sewer lateral repair work at 350 

Meadowbrook Road. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Municipal Clerk publish the Notice of Completion 

for sanitary sewer lateral repair work at 350 Meadowbrook Road. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE SUPPLEMENTAL 

AGREEMENT #1 TO THE CONTRACT OF PAVECON, LTD., FOR 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE FAST ACT SIDEWALK PROJECT, FEDERAL AID 

PROJECT NUMBER STP-0250-00(054) LPA/108164.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson executed a contract with Pavecon, Ltd. for the FAST Act 

Sidewalk Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, near the end of the project, City staff determined that a proposed JATRAN 

bench on East County Line Road that was part of the grant application was inadvertently omitted 

from the construction plans; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Supplemental Agreement #1, which adds the necessary pay 

item, results in a cost increase of $4,229.20; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends acceptance of Supplemental 

Agreement #1 to the contract Pavecon, Ltd. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Supplemental 

Agreement #1 to the contract of Pavecon, Ltd. for the FAST Act Sidewalk Project, increasing the 

contract not to exceed amount by $4,229.20 to a total of $1,338,153.20. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CHANGE ORDER #2 TO 

THE CONTRACT OF HEMPHILL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC., FOR 

CONSTRUCTION OF THE RIVERSIDE DRIVE PROJECT.  



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             413 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson executed a contract with Hemphill Construction 

Company, Inc. for the Riverside Drive Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, during the construction project, there was a cost deduction due to value 

engineering, there was an unknown fire line discovered that had to be replaced and connected to 

the water main, the arborist recommended adding a select type of mulch for the health of the trees, 

and asphalt prices have changed resulting in a request for a unit price adjustment; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Change Order #2, which adds the necessary pay items and 

adjusts the asphalt price per ton, resulting in a cost increase of $145,626.68; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends acceptance of Change Order 

#2 to the contract Hemphill Construction Company, Inc. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Change Order 

#2 to the contract of Hemphill Construction Company, Inc. for the Riverside Drive Project, 

increasing the contract amount by $145,626.68 for a total amount not to exceed $14,443,031.49 

and adding 0 calendar days to the contract time. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO TERMINATE ACONSTRUCTION 

ENGINEERING AND INSPECTION SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

VOLKERT, INC. FOR THE MILL STREET TOWN CREEK BRIDGE PROJECT 

AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN ADDITIONAL 

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING AND INSPECTION SERVICES 

AGREEMENT WITH VOLKERT, INC. FOR THE MILL STREET TOWN CREEK 

BRIDGE PROJECT, FEDERAL AID PROJECT NO. STP7261-00(002) LPA/108070.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson received Federal FAST Act transportation funds through 

the Jackson MPO to replace the Mill Street bridge over Town Creek; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson previously selected Volkert, Inc. to perform necessary 

construction engineering and inspection services for the project with said contract being 80% 

reimbursable with federal funds up to the federal funds awarded to the project; and 

WHEREAS, due to the longer construction period, Volkert, Inc. has had to expend 

additional time and resources to perform necessary construction inspection services for the project; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Volkert, Inc. has provided a cost estimate for the additional inspection 

services not to exceed $44,548.50; and 

 

WHEREAS, for technical reasons, the Mississippi Department of Transportation requires 

that the City of Jackson enter into a new construction engineering & inspection services contract 

since the additional funds will not be federally reimbursable since all federal funds awarded to the 

project have been expended. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to terminate the 

construction engineering and inspection services contract with Volkert, Inc. for the Mill Street 

Town Creek Bridge Project, Federal Aid Project No. STP-7261-00(002) LPA/108070 in 

accordance with the terms of the contract upon the conclusion of all federally-funded work 

associated with the contract. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a construction 

engineering and inspection services contract with Volkert, Inc. for the Mill Street Town Creek 

Bridge Project, Federal Aid Project No. STP-7261-00(002) LPA/108070, for an amount not to 

exceed $44,548.50. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             414 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE CHANGE ORDER #1 TO 

THE CONTRACT OF FORDICE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC. FOR THE 

MCRAVEN ROAD BRIDGE PROJECT, PROJECT NUMBER ERBR-25(04).  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson executed a contract with Fordice Construction Company, 

Inc. for McRaven Road Bridge Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, during the project, the test pile driven went deeper than anticipated resulting 

in an overrun in pile lengths; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Change Order #1, which adds additional quantities of bridge 

piles, results in a cost increase of $12,250.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends acceptance of Change Order 

#1 to the contract Fordice Construction Company, Inc. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Change Order 

#1 to the contract of Fordice Construction Company, Inc. for the McRaven Road Bridge Project, 

increasing the contract not to exceed amount by $12,250.00 to a total of $233,048.00 and adding 

0 calendar days to the contract time. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF TRAFFIC SIGNAL REPAIR WORK 

AT HANGING MOSS ROAD AND BEASLEY ROAD FROM LEWIS ELECTRIC, 

INC. AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO SAID VENDOR BY THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, the traffic signal at Hanging Moss Road at Beasley Road is attached to two 

broken Entergy poles that have caused parts of the signal to hang lower than standard resulting in 

passing taller vehicles hitting and breaking one of the left turn signal heads; and 

 

WHEREAS, the left turn signal could not be replaced until the traffic signal wiring was 

transferred from the two broken poles to two replacement poles that were previously set by 

Entergy; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of this repair work was done 

without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of the City of Jackson; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the repair work set forth in certain invoice attached hereto was provided to 

the Department of Public Works, and said repair work has been rendered. 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             415 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the following vendor in the amount 

set forth be made, consistent with the attached invoice: 

 

Vendor       Invoice No.    Invoice Date    Amount 

Lewis Electric, Inc.      M2023.157    11/14/2023    $ 6,500.00 

 

 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF PARTS AND REPAIRS PROVIDED 

BY VARIOUS VENDORS TO THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND 

AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO SAID VENDORS.  

WHEREAS, the Municipal Garage Division of the Department of Public Works had need 

of certain parts to make repairs to City vehicles and found it necessary to send certain City vehicles 

for outside repairs; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Garage Division of the Department of Public Works also 

found it necessary to procure materials and repairs for its facilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary parts and 

repairs was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 

the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the parts and repairs set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were 

provided to the Department of Public Works, Municipal Garage Division, and the parts have been 

delivered and in-house repairs completed, or parts stocked; and outside repairs have been 

completed. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             416 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts 

set forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 

 

Hall’s Towing Services                                                                                              $4,826.00 

NAPA Auto Parts                                                                                                       $6,782.53 

C & J Towing                                                                                                             $150.00 

Jackson Door & Sash                                                                                                 $2,700.00 

Hayles Towing & Recovery                                                                                       $4,826.00 

A-1 Lock & Safe, LLC                                                                                               $977.20 

O’Reilly                                                                                                                      $704.50 

Sherwin Williams                                                                                                       $258.46 

Jackson Supply Company                                                                                          $1,431.50 

Jackson Air & Hydraulic, Inc.                                                                                    $519.00 

Stribling Equipment, LLC                                                                                          $169.62 

Sansom Equipment Company                                                                                    $76.93 

Mel Luna Saw Company                                                                                            $189.99 

Hydraulic Service & Supply, LLC                                                                             $164.69 

LGT Glass Shop, LLC                                                                                                $6,325.00 

Revell Hardware                                                                                                         $992.61 

Office Depot                                                                                                               $1,495.60 

Mac Haik Dodge                                                                                                         $6,080.77 

Delta Muffler & Auto Repair                                                                                      $13,105.11 

Winzer                                                                                                                         $1,678.83 

ACE Bolt & Screw Co., Inc.                                                                                       $240.00 

Harley Davidson                                                                                                          $466.84 

Deviney Equipment                                                                                                     $18,718.63 

Shipp’s Truck Specialist, Inc.                                                                                      $4,223.33 

Auto Plus-Jackson-10344                                                                                            $2,709.63 

Big 10 Tire Pros                                                                                                           $7,213.72 

Grainger                                                                                                                       $1,180.42 

Mac Haik Ford                                                                                                             $58,477.56 

Clarke Power Services                                                                                                 $740.91 

Mississippi Auto Parts dba NAPA of Clinton                                                              $27.39 

Total                                                                                                                           $143,086.77 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             417 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             418 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             419 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             420 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             421 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             422 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             423 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             424 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             425 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             426 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             427 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             428 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             429 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             430 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             431 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             432 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             433 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             434 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             435 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             436 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             437 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             438 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             439 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             440 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             441 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             442 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             443 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             444 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             445 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             446 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             447 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             448 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             449 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             450 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             451 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             452 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             453 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             454 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             455 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             456 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             457 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             458 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             459 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             460 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             461 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             462 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             463 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             464 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             465 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             466 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             467 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             468 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             469 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             470 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             471 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             472 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             473 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             474 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             475 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             476 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             477 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             478 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             479 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             480 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             481 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             482 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             483 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             484 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             485 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             486 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             487 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             488 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             489 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             490 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             491 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             492 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             493 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             494 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             495 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             496 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             497 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             498 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             499 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             500 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             501 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             502 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             503 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             504 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             505 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             506 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             507 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             508 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             509 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             510 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             511 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             512 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             513 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             514 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             515 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             516 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             517 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             518 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             519 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             520 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             521 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             522 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             523 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             524 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             525 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             526 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             527 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             528 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             529 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             530 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             531 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             532 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             533 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             534 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             535 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             536 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             537 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             538 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             539 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             540 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             541 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             542 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             543 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             544 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             545 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             546 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             547 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             548 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             549 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             550 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             551 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             552 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             553 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             554 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

 

 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             555 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks and Stokes. 

Abstention – Lee.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No: 40: 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH 

PREMIER PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICES, PLLC TO PROVIDE INDIGENT 

DEFENDER LEGAL SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

President Banks stated said item would be held until later in the meeting.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF FULL AND FINAL SETTLEMENT OF 

ALL CLAIMS AGAINST THE CITY OF JACKSON AND OFFICER BERNARD 

BURTON, INDIVIDUALLY AND OFFICIALLY IN THE MATTER OF “LATICE 

GALLOWAY V. CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI; OFFICER BERNARD 

BURTON, INDIVIDUALLYAND OFFICIALLY; JOHN DOES 1-10; JANES DOES 

1-10; AND ABC CORPORATIONS 1-10” IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS 

COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT; CIVIL ACTION NO.: 21-

124-WLK.  

WHEREAS, on March 8, 2021, Latice Galloway filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of 

Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District against the City of Jackson, Mississippi and 

Officer Bernard Burton alleging reckless disregard relative to a motor vehicle collision that 

occurred on December 9, 2019; and 

 

WHEREAS, on February 10, 2022, Latice Galloway filed an Amended Complaint to 

include a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against the City of Jackson, Mississippi and Officer Bernard 

Burton, individually, regarding the same motor vehicle collision; and 

 

WHEREAS, on November 6, 2023, the parties, through counsel, participated in mediation 

and reached a proposed agreement to settle the aforementioned lawsuit; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney is recommending the City of Jackson fully 

and finally resolve the aforementioned lawsuit in return for a complete release of the City of 

Jackson, Mississippi and Bernard Burton from the lawsuit; and 

 

WHEREAS, such settlement shall not constitute an admission of liability on the part of 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, based on the economic value to the City of Jackson and without admitting 

any liability, it is in the best interest of the citizenry that the City of Jackson resolve this matter 

through settlement. 

 

NOW THEREFORE IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the City Council of the City of 

Jackson, Mississippi, that the City should and is hereby authorized to settle all claims in the lawsuit 

styled Latice Galloway v. City of Jackson, Mississippi, et al., Civil Action No.: 21-123-WLK; 

execute all documents necessary to settle and dismiss said claim; and pay the settlement amount, 

to the Plaintiff and her Counsel, as full and final settlement of this matter. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 

said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             556 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstentions – Lee and Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER REVIEWING AND CONTINUING AUGUST 29, 2022 STATE OF 

EMERGENCY.  

WHEREAS, on August 29, 2022, the Mayor issued a proclamation of emergency as a 

result of (1) excessive rainfall and extreme flooding, (2) the March 7, 2020 Safe Drinking Water 

Act (SDWA) Emergency Administrative Order (EAO); (3) the February 2021 system-wide 

failure due to extreme water conditions that caused pipes to freeze and lose pressure; (4) the July 

1, 2021 SDWA Administrative Order of Consent (AOC); (5) the July 29, 2022 Boil Water 

Notice which existed for more than thirty (30) days; and (6) the August 25, 2022 flooding of the 

Pearl River, which lead to problems with treating water at the O.B. Curtis Water Plant; and 

WHEREAS, Section 33-15-17(d) of the Mississippi Code allows the mayor of a 

municipality to proclaim a local emergency and authorizes the governing body of a municipality 

to review and approve or disapprove the need for continuing the local emergency at its first 

regular meeting following such proclamation or at a special meeting; and 

WHEREAS, Section 33-15-5 (h) of the Mississippi Code defines an emergency as “any 

occurrence, or threat thereof, whether natural, technological, or man-made, in war or in peace, 

which results or may result in substantial injury or harm to the population or substantial damage 

to loss of property;” and 

WHEREAS, Section 33-15-5 (g) of the Mississippi Code defines a local emergency as 

“the duly proclaimed existence of conditions of disaster or extreme peril to the safety of person 

and property within the territorial limits of a...municipality caused by such conditions as...water 

pollution...or other natural or man-made conditions, which conditions are or are likely to be 

beyond the control of the services, personnel, equipment and facilities of the political subdivision 

and require the combined forces of other subdivisions or of the state to combat;” and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 33-15-17 (b) of the Mississippi Code, the City “is 

authorized to exercise the powers vested under [Section 33-15-1, et seq.,] in light of the 

exigencies of the extreme emergency situation without regard to time-consuming procedures and 

formalities prescribed by law pertaining to the performance of public work, entering into 

contracts, the incurring of obligations...and the expenditure of public funds.... 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT we the governing body of the City of 

Jackson, Mississippi, pursuant to the authority vested in the body by Section 33-l5-l7(d) of the 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, and in the public interest and for the general welfare of 

the City of Jackson, do hereby approve of the continued need for a civil emergency for the entire 

City of Jackson for the reasons set forth in this Order. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER REVIEWING AND CONTINUING STATE OF EMERGENCY.  

WHEREAS, on February 18, 2020, the Jackson City Council, pursuant to Section 33-15-

17(8(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, passed an Order Declaring the Need to 

Continue the State of Emergency that was issued on February 13, 2020 by Chokwe A. Lumumba, 

Mayor of the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and  

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             557 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, in the February 18, 2020 Order, found that flood 

waters and wide spread drainage system issues had affected several Jackson creeks, including, but 

not limited to:  Belhaven Creek; Bogue Chitto Creek; Canney Creek; Eubanks Creek; Hanging 

Moss Creek; Lynch Creek; Purple Creek; Three Mile Creek; Town Creek; Travon Creek; and 

White Oak Creek; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, in the February 18, 2020 Order, found that the 

flood waters and wide spread drainage system issues caused extensive damages to homes, 

business, public property, and threatened the safety of the citizens and property of the City of 

Jackson, Mississippi, requiring the exercise of extraordinary measures; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, in the February 18, 2020 Order, found that all 

efforts should be taken to protect people and property in consideration of the health, safety, and 

welfare of the City’s residents and the protection of their property within the affected areas; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, on March 17, 2020; April 14, 2020; May 12, 2020, 

June 9, 2020, July 7, 2020, August 4, 2020, September 1, 2020, September 29, 2020, October 27, 

2020, November 24, 2020, December 22, 2020, January 19, 2021, February 17, 2021, March 30, 

2021, April 27, 2021, May 25, 2021, June 22, 2021, July 20, 2021, August 31, 2021, September 

28, 2021, October 26, 2021, November 23, 2021, December 21, 2021, January 25, 2022, February 

15, 2022, March 29, 2022, April 26, 2022, May 24, 2022, June 21, 2022, July 19, 2022, August 

30, 2022, September 27, 2022, October 25, 2022, November 22, 2022,  December 20, 2022, 

January 31, 2023, February 28, 2023, March 21, 2023, April 25, 2023 and May 23, 2023, June 22, 

2023, July 18, 2023, August 29, 2023, September 26, 2023 and October 24, 2023 pursuant to 

Section 33-15-17(8)(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, reviewed the need for and continued the 

local emergency; and 

 

            WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 33-15-17(8)(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended, the Jackson City Council has again reviewed the need for continuing the local 

emergency and determined that the emergency should be continued. 

 

            IT IS THEREFORE HEREBY ORDERED that said Order Declaring the Need to 

Continue the Declared State of Emergency as delineated by the Jackson City Council, remains in 

full force and effect and shall be reviewed again in thirty (30) days in accordance with Section 33-

15-17(8(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, REQUESTING 

THE OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY TO SEEK A DISMISSAL OF THE 

APPEAL FILED BY RICHARD’S DISPOSAL, INC.  

WHEREAS, on April 1, 2023, the Mayor presented an Order to the City Council, which 

would grant Richard’s Disposal, Inc., a six-year contract for solid waste collections services in the 

City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council did not approve the Order, and Richard’s Disposal, Inc., 

filed its Notice of Appeal on April 10, 2023, appealing the City Council’s decision to no approve 

the Order to the Hinds County Circuit Court; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council believes this appeal to be without merit because as the 

governing authority of the City of Jackson, the City Council has the authority to reject all proposals 

and reinitiate the request for proposals process; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council believes that it is in the best interest of the City of Jackson 

to seek dismissal of the appeal. 

  



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             558 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

            IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City Council of the City of Jackson requests 

that the Office of the City Attorney seek dismissal of the appeal as we believe the appeal is without 

merit pursuant to the authority to reject all proposals and reinitiate the request for proposal 

process.  

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 

said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Abstentions – Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay.  

Absent – None.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 45: 

ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI HIRING LEGAL 

COUNSEL TO REPRESENT THE CITY OF JACKSON ON ALL LEGAL 

MATTERS. President Banks stated said item would be held until the December 19, 2023 

Regular Council Meeting. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

RESOLUTION OF CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI OFFERING 

SINCERE CONDOLENCES AND PRAYERS TO THE FAMILLY AND FRIENDS 

OF DEXTER WADE.  

 

“He will wipe away every tear from their eyes, and death shall be no more, neither shall there be 

mourning, nor crying, nor pain anymore, for the former things have passed away.  And He who 

was seated on the throne said, Behold, I am making all things new.” Rev 21:4 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Jackson, Mississippi mourns the untimely death of 

Dexter Wade; and 

 

WHEREAS, the acknowledgment of this dreadful event cannot begin to express the 

magnitude of sorrow expressed by City Council of Jackson, Mississippi at the loss of his life; and 

 

WHEREAS, the passing of Dexter Wade is a tragedy and there is a human tie that has 

been broken, we pray you are encouraged and consoled by the promise of God that “He heals the 

brokenhearted and binds up their wounds.” 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that we embrace the family and friends of 

Dexter Wade during their time of grief and sorrow.  We cannot replace your loss, but will continue 

to pray that God gives you peace and comfort during these trying times. 
 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             559 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF SP PLUS CORPORATION TO 

PROVIDE METERED PARKING SYSTEM OPERATION, MANAGEMENT, AND 

ENFORCEMENT SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE 

AN AGREEMENT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson advertised for proposals for a smart parking meter system 

complete with associated software, data, operational support, staff, programming management and 

maintenance, along with any additional or related services that might complement the core vendor 

services that were the purpose of request for proposals; and 

 

WHEREAS, one proposal was received from SP Plus Corporation, in response to the 

City’s advertisement for bids and was opened on March 21, 2023 and 

 

WHEREAS, SP Plus Corporation (“SP Plus”) is a Delaware Corporation duly registered 

to do business in Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City and SP Plus have negotiated an agreement whereby SP Plus will 

operate and maintain a metered parking system to be composed of new multi-space digital pay 

stations and provide enforcement of City ordinances for parking within the area of the City 

authorized by the City Council to provided metered parking; and 

 

WHEREAS, SP Plus will collect all the revenues generated by the metered parking system 

and from enforcement of parking violations associated with the parking meters; and 

 

WHEREAS, SP Plus will use these revenues to pay all the expenses associated with the 

operation and maintenance of the metered parking system and enforcement of City parking 

ordinances in the designated area; and 

  

WHEREAS, the base management fee will be paid from the revenue generated by the 

metered parking system and enforcement of City parking ordinance in the designated area; and 

 

WHEREAS, SP Plus will also be paid a base management fee of $94,500.00 annually, in 

twelve (12) equal monthly payments, which will be subject to an annual adjust for inflation that 

will not exceed 5% in any single year; and 

 

WHEREAS, SP Plus will be entitled to receive and incentive fee of 2% of gross revenues 

for the year less operating expenses and less the base management fee earned during the year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the agreement provides for an annual review of operations, at which time, 

the City will be entitled to a payment from the revenues from the previous year in an amount that 

will not cause the operating account to have less than one month’s operating expenses; and 

 

WHEREAS, SP Plus will incur capital expenses that include parking meters, vehicles and 

equipment to be used in enforcement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the capital expenses incurred by SP Plus will be paid according to an 

amortization schedule that will allow the capital equipment and vehicles to be paid off during the 

initial term of the agreement and become the property of the City at that time; and 

 

WHEREAS, in any month where there are insufficient funds to pay operating expenses 

and the base management fee, the City will be responsible for paying the monthly charge for these 

the payment of these capital expenses; and 

 

WHEREAS, the initial term of the agreement will be five (5) years from the date the first 

parking meters are commissioned for use and may be renewed for an additional five (5) years upon 

the mutual agreement of the parties: and 

 

WHEREAS, the agreement may be terminated for the following reasons: 

 

For cause upon on fourteen (14) days’ notice if a monetary breach or thirty (30) days’ 

notice if a non-monetary breach; 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             560 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Either party may terminate if the other party files for bankruptcy, effective upon giving 

notice; or 

 

After the first twelve (12) months of the initial term, if there exists an insufficient balance 

in the operator’s revenue account to pay the management fee and operating expenses when 

due and payable for any period of three (3) consecutive months, the SP Plus shall be entitled 

to terminate the agreement by providing thirty (30) days written notice to the City. 

 

WHEREAS, upon termination of the agreement prior to the expiration of the initial term, 

the City will be required to pay any outstanding operating expenses, base management fee earned, 

incentive fee earned, and the outstanding amount of principal remaining on the capitalized 

equipment and vehicles, within forty-five days of the effective date of the termination; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the agreement, SP Plus will provide the following services: 

 

1. Monitor Metered Parking System Activities effectiveness. 

 

2. Collect, maintain and analyze parking data for the purpose of making recommendations 

to the City for improving operations and enforcement, as well as maximizing revenues. 

 

3. Provide recommendations for parking fees and policies; provided, however, the City 

shall retain sole authority to set and/or approve all fees and policies. 

 

4. Respond to parking complaints and public inquiries. Operator shall log all complaints 

and document the resolution of same. 

 

5. Implement and continue a public information program approved by the City. 

 

6. Observe and comply with all applicable federal, state, or local laws. 

 

7. Coordinate parking matters with local businesses. 

 

8. Purchase all materials, equipment and supplies necessary to carry out all parking 

operation and parking enforcement functions. 

 

9. Engage third party contractors, to the extent necessary, to provide the full scope of 

services, subject to City approval. 

 

10. Attend regular meetings at the request of City administration to review and discuss 

parking matters. 

 

11. Oversee day-to-day parking operations and respond to all field-related parking activity 

concerns with City parking facilities. 

 

12. Install, maintain, relocate and replace parking meters, pay stations, and other parking 

equipment as necessary. 

 

13. Hire and manage all parking related staff. Staff shall be fully trained, competent, and 

qualified with the skills and experience necessary to properly perform their assigned 

responsibilities. 

 

14. Perform background and drug screening for all staff hired to provide services to the 

City. 

 

15. Designate a manager who shall oversee parking operations to ensure high quality 

service and parking staff performance. 

 

16. Ensure that all personnel interacting with the public are in uniform and are maintaining 

a clean, orderly appearance. The uniform must display City approved insignia that 

clearly identifies staff as being responsible for City parking services. 

 

17. Ensure that all personnel issuing parking citations are properly trained and certified. 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             561 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

18. Enforce City parking restrictions for on-street parking, including through the issuance 

of administrative and/or civil parking citations in accordance with City 

ordinances/policies. 

 

19. Participate in a multi-step adjudication process, whereby the initial administrative 

review is conducted by Operator staff, a secondary administrative review is conducted 

by the Operator’s general manager, and a third step allows for an administrative hearing 

to be conducted by an appointed magistrate within the City. 

 

20. Manage the financial activity of the parking system to include collecting and depositing 

all parking revenues and paying all parking related expenses in a timely manner and 

the technology relating to on-street digital meters, phone and on-line apps, and 

collection technology; 

 

21. Maintain detailed financial records. These records shall be open to the City and 

available to the public through public records requests made pursuant to the Mississippi 

Public Records Act. 

 

22. Pursue collection of outstanding fees for parking violations, which may be 

accomplished by contracting with a collection agency. 

 

23. Retain vendors to perform booting services if required by the City. 

 

24. Engage outside vendors to perform the following Services: 

 

a) Flowbird to allow for payment at City parking meters. 

b) Passport to allow for payment from mobile applications and for payment 

collections. 

 

25. Inventory and remove existing parking meters and replace them with new digital pay 

stations. Maintain the new digital pay stations. 

 

26. Acquire vehicles equipped with license plate recognition cameras necessary to perform 

the services. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a management 

agreement with SP Plus Corporation for metered parking system operation, maintenance, and 

enforcement services consist with the contract terms set forth above. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION DECLARING THE INTENTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TO ENTER INTO A LOAN 

WITH THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK IN AN AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED FORTY MILLION DOLLARS 

($40,000,000) TO RAISE MONEY FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE (A) REPAIR, 

MAINTENANCE AND/OR RECONSTRUCTION OF ROADS, STREETS AND 

BRIDGES BASED UPON AN EQUAL SHARE OF THE BOND PROCEEDS TO BE 

EVENLYDISTRIBUTED TO EACH OF THE SEVEN (7) WARDS THROUGHOUT 

THE CITY OR AS AGREED UPON BY THE GOVERNING BODY LESS THE 

COSTS OF ISSUANCE; (B) STORM WATER AND DRAINAGE 

IMPROVEMENTS BASED UPON AN EQUAL SHARE OF THE BOND 

PROCEEDS TO BE EVENLY DISTRIBUTED TO EACH OF THE SEVEN (7) 

WARDS THROUGHOUT THE CITY OR AS AGREED UPON BY THE 

GOVERNING BODY LESS THE COSTS OF ISSUANCE AS AUTHORIZED BY 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             562 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

SECTIONS 27-67-31 THROUGH 27-67-35, AS AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED 

FROM TIME TO TIME AND SECTIONS 31-25-1 ET SEQ., MISSISSIPPI CODE 

OF 1972, AS AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME; (C) 

AUTHORIZING THE USE OF THE BOND PROCEEDS FOR EMERGENCY 

PURPOSES AS AGREED UPON BY THE GOVERNING BODY FOR USES 

ALLOWED UNDER THE ACT; AND (D) FUNDING CAPITALIZED INTEREST 

AND A DEBT SERVICE RESERVE FUND, IF APPLICABLE, AND PAYING THE 

COSTS OF ISSUANCE FOR THE BONDS AND DIRECTING THE 

PUBLICATION OF A NOTICE OF SUCH INTENTION; AND FOR RELATED 

PURPOSES.  

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi (the 

"Governing Body"), acting for and on behalf of the City of Jackson, Mississippi (the "City"), is 

authorized under the provisions Sections 27-67-31 through 27-67-31 of the Mississippi Code of 

1972, as amended from time to time (the "Infrastructure Modernization Act") and  Sections 31-

25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the 

"Bank Act," and together with the Infrastructure Modernization Act, the "Act") to enter into 

indebtedness of the City in such amounts as it may find necessary and proper and for the purposes 

set forth in the Act, including, but not limited to the (a) repair, maintenance and/or reconstruction 

of roads, streets and bridges based upon an equal share of the Bond proceeds to be evenly 

distributed to each of the seven (7) wards throughout the City or as agreed upon by the Governing 

Body less the costs of issuance; (b) storm water and drainage improvements based upon an equal 

share of the Bond proceeds to be evenly distributed to each of the seven (7) wards throughout the 

City or as agreed upon by the Governing Body the costs of issuance; (c) authorizing the of the 

Bond proceeds for emergency purposes as agreed upon by the Governing Body for uses as allowed 

under the Act and as approved by the Governing Body; and (d) funding capitalized interest and a 

debt service reserve fund, if appliable and paying the costs of issuance of the borrowing (the 

"Project"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, is also authorized 

under the Act and other applicable laws of the State of Mississippi (the "State") to enter into a 

loan with the Mississippi Development Bank (the “Bank”) to borrow money to finance the costs 

of the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body finds and determines that it is necessary and proper to 

finance the costs of the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary for the health and well-being of the citizens of the City to 

provide funding for the costs of the Project by entering into a Loan with the Bank (the “Loan”) 

pursuant to the Act to borrow money from the Bank through the issuance of its Mississippi 

Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2024 (City of Jackson, MS Modernization 

Revenue Bond Project) (the “Bonds”) all in a total aggregate principal amount not to exceed Forty 

Million Dollars ($40,000,000); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has caused an estimate to be made of the costs of the 

Project by the City from which estimate the Governing Body finds and determines that the 

contemplated costs thereof will not exceed Forty Million Dollars ($40,000,000); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has determined that the Project and the costs thereof are 

economically feasible and would be in the best interests of the citizens of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is necessary and advisable and in the best interest of the City for the 

Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, to provide funding for the costs of the Project 

by borrowing money by entering into the Loan with the Bank and the issuance of the Bonds by the 

Bank, all in accordance with the Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City reasonably expects that it will incur expenditures in connection with 

the Project for which the City intends to reimburse itself with the proceeds of the Bonds. This 

declaration of official intent to reimburse expenditures made prior to the issuance of the Bonds in 

anticipation of the issuance of the Bonds is made pursuant to Department of Treasury Regulations 

Section 1.150-2 (the “Reimbursement Regulations”).  The Project for which such expenditures 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             563 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

are made is the same as described herein.  The maximum principal amount of debt expected to be 

issued for the Project is the amount herein set forth. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 

CITY, ACTING FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE CITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1.  The Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, hereby declares its 

intention to enter into the Loan with the Bank all in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 

Forty Million Dollars ($40,000,000).  

 

SECTION 2.  The Loan will be entered into for the purpose of financing the Project, as authorized 

by the Act. 

 

SECTION 3.  The principal and interest on the Loan and the issuance of the Bonds through Bank 

shall be payable over a period not to exceed sixteen (16) years solely from those revenues (the 

“Use Tax Revenue”) derived from those certain monies remitted from the State of Mississippi 

(the “State”) to the City in January and July of each calendar year pursuant to the Infrastructure 

Modernization Act.  The Loan and Bonds of the Bank shall not constitute an indebtedness of the 

City within the meaning of any statutory or charter restriction, limitation, or provision, and the 

taxing power of the City will not be pledged to the payment of the Loan or the Bonds, but the 

same, together with the interest thereon, shall be payable solely from the Use Tax Revenue allowed 

to be pledged for the payment of debt service pursuant to the Act. 

 

SECTION 4.  Unless a protest in writing signed by fifteen percent (15%) of the qualified electors 

of the City or fifteen hundred (1,500) qualified electors of the City, whichever is lesser, objecting 

to and protesting against the issuance of the Bonds or entering into the Loan is filed with the City 

Clerk at City Hall located at 219 S. President Street, Jackson, Mississippi in the City on or before 

10:00 o'clock a.m. on January 2, 2024, which date shall be not more than seven (7) days after the 

date of the last publication of this resolution, the Governing Body will authorize entering into the 

Loan at said time or at some meeting or meetings subsequent thereto.  If such sufficient protest 

and objection is filed on or before the date and hour hereinabove set forth, the question of the 

issuance of said Bonds or entering into said Loan shall be submitted to an election to as provided 

in the Bank Act. 

 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall be published once a week for at least three consecutive weeks 

in The Clarion Ledger and The Mississippi Link, both newspapers published in the City, and 

having general circulation therein and qualified under the provisions of the laws of the State, and 

the last publication of this resolution shall be not more than seven (7) days prior to the date 

hereinabove set forth as the deadline for the filing of objection or protest. 

 

SECTION 6.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to procure from the publisher of the aforesaid 

newspaper the customary proof of publication of this resolution and have the same before the 

Governing Body on the day and hour hereinabove specified. 

 

SECTION 7.  The City reasonably expects that it will incur expenditures prior to entering into the 

Loan and the issuance of the Bonds by the Bank, which it intends to reimburse with the proceeds 

of the Bonds upon the issuance thereof.  This declaration of official intent to reimburse 

expenditures made prior to the issuance of the Bonds is made pursuant to Department of Treasury 

Regulations Section 1.150-2 (the reimbursement regulations).  The Project for which such 

expenditures are made is the same as described herein above.  The maximum principal amount of 

debt expected to be issued for the Project is the amount herein above set forth. 

 

SECTION 8.  The Governing Body herein approves of and employs the law firm Butler Snow 

LLP, as Bond Counsel, and authorizes and directs the Mayor to execute and deliver an engagement 

letter with certain conditions and terms set forth therein concerning said employment. 

 

SECTION 9.  If any one or more of the provisions of this resolution shall for any reason be held 

to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any of the other provisions of 

this resolution, but this resolution shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid 

provision or provisions had not been contained herein. 
 
 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             564 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read Agenda Item No. 40: 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH 

PREMIER PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICES, PLLC TO PROVIDE INDIGENT 

DEFENDER LEGAL SERVICES FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI.  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-23-7(4) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 (as amended) 

when a person is charged with an offense in municipal court punishable by confinement, the 

municipal judge, being satisfied that such person is an indigent person and is unable to employ 

counsel, may, in the discretion of the court, appoint counsel and compensation for appointed 

counsel in criminal cases shall be approved and allowed by the municipal judge and shall be paid 

by the municipality; and 

 

WHEREAS, on December 31, 2023, the term of the contract between the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi and the current public defender firm will expire; and 

 

WHEREAS, the services of Premier Public Defender Services, PLLC are necessary to 

ensure continued representation of indigent defendants in cases arising within Municipal Court, 

Jackson, Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-23-7(4) of the Mississippi Code of 1972 (as 

amended), the maximum compensation provided for representation shall not exceed Two Hundred 

Dollars ($200.00) for any one (1) case and the governing authorities of a municipality may, in their 

discretion, appoint public defender(s) who must be a licensed attorney and who shall receive a 

salary to be fixed by the governing authorities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney recommends the City of Jackson execute a 

contract with Premier Public Defender Services, PLLC (Timothy Craig Howard as Principal) for 

a term of three years, commencing on January 1, 2024 and expiring on December 31, 2026 at a 

rate of $200.00 per case with a maximum of $20,000.00 per month to represent indigent defendants 

in cases arising within the Municipal Court, Jackson, Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, said contract shall require Premier Public Defender Services to utilize 

Timothy Craig Howard and at least two other attorneys in good standing with the Mississippi Bar 

who shall regularly appear in court and meet with clients, as well as utilize a staff person for 

administrative duties; and 

 

WHEREAS, said contract shall require Premier Public Defender Services, Inc. to obtain 

and maintain professional liability insurance in the amount of $500,000.00 in effect at all times of 

the term of the Contract; and 

 

WHEREAS, said contract shall specify that upon its effective date, the current public 

defender contract between the City of Jackson, Mississippi and Timothy Craig Howard is rendered 

null and void; and 

 

WHEREAS, said contract shall contain mutually applicable rights of termination upon 

written notice. 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             565 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is (1) authorized to execute a contract 

with Premier Public Defender Services, PLLC (Timothy Craig Howard as Principal) to provide 

professional legal services for certain indigent defendants charged with misdemeanor offenses in 

Jackson Municipal Court in the contract amount of $200.00 per case with a maximum of 

$20,000.00 per month; and (2) authorized to execute any other documents that are necessary to 

effectuate the intent of this order. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney and Timoty Howard, Premier 

Public Defender Services, PLLC, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for Discussion, Agenda Item No. 50: 

 

DISCUSSION: MARY JONES: President Banks stated said item would be held at the 

request of Council Member Stokes. 

 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for Discussion, Agenda Item No. 51: 

 

DISCUSSION: HINDS COUNTY: President Banks stated said item would be held at 

the request of Council Member Stokes. 

 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

DISCUSSION: NEW GARBAGE RFP: President Banks recognized Council Member 

Foote who expressed concerns regarding the need for a new RFP for garbage collection to 

avoid a future garbage crisis given that the current emergency contract expires very soon. 

He stated he strongly encourages the Administration to start an RFP for future garbage 

collections. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DISCUSSION: CENTRALIZATION UPDATE: President Banks stated said item was 

discussed in Work Session.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DISCUSSION: REVIEW AND CONTINUATION OF COVID-19 LOCAL 

EMERGENCY: President Banks and the City Council members discussed to continue 

the emergency.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS AS REQUIRED ACCORDING TO SECTION 

21-35-13 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972.  President Banks 

stated that all City Council members had received the monthly financial report for review. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 



 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                     TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 21, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             566 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Regular Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on December 5, 2023.  At 1:18 p.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.   

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

 

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST:  

 

                                         ____________     

      CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             567 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on December 5, 2023, being the first Tuesday 

of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 

3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4 (via teleconference); Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and 

Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7 (via teleconference). Directors: Louis Wright, Chief 

Administrative Officer; Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer; 

Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of 

Council and Catoria Martin, City Attorney.  

 

 Absent:           None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The invocation was offered by Pastor Willie Berry of Metropolitan Full Gospel Baptist 

Church.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  
 

There came on for consideration Agenda Item No. 2, Public Hearing:  

 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

HONORARY RENAMING 723 ROSE STREET TO THE INTERSECTION OF 

ROSE STREET AND LYNCH STREET TO ALPHA DELTA ZETA CHAPTER, 

ZETA PHI BETA SORORITY, INC. STREET.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no one to speak in favor of said item and was no opposition from the public.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Foote who moved, seconded by Council Member 

Hartley, to suspend the rules to allow for public comments for non-agenda related items. The 

motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – Stokes.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

The following individuals provided public comments during the meeting: 

 

• Adrienne Tin expressed concerns regarding the lack of enforcement of the noise 

ordinance. 

• Yolanda Brinston expressed concerns regarding sewer issues at 2961 Smith Robertson St.  

 

• Pamela and Jimmie Kelly expressed concerns regarding sewer issues at 2961 Smith 

Robertson St. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 7, 2023 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Agenda Item No. 9December 19, 2023(S.Jordan, Banks) 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             568 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

APPROVAL OF THE NOVEMBER 20, 2023 REGULAR ZONING COUNCIL 

MEETING MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON CLASSIFICATION AND 

COMPENSATION PLAN TO ADD THE JOB CLASSIFICATION OF 

MARKETING COORDINATOR.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson entered into a contract with TransDev for the operation 

and maintenance of its transit program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s contract with TransDev states that it shall be responsible for 

marketing activities and the promotion of ridership; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development advised the Department of 

Human Resources that the creation of the position of marketing coordinator for the specific 

purpose of performing the function contemplated in the City’s contract with TransDev is 

necessary; and 

 

WHEREAS, the functions of the marketing coordinator will be: (a) assist in the 

development and maintenance of transit programs, coordinating ridership and community outreach 

projects; (b)creating marketing, customer, and public information materials, conducting ridership, 

pass sales and other promotions; (c) branding; supporting community partnerships and assisting 

with organizational participation in community events; (d) website content development and 

management; ( e) creating and developing bus advertisement; ( f) promoting ridership using social 

media; (g) other; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human Resources submitted inquiries submitted to the 

following Southeastern cities regarding the compensation paid to persons performing similar 

functions:   Mobile, Alabama and Little Rock, Arkansas; and 

 

WHEREAS, based upon the response from aforementioned cities, the median salary paid 

for the position equivalent of a Marketing Coordinator was within the range of $53,125.39-

$64,174.81; and 

 

WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by adding the 

Marketing Coordinator classification to the current pay plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the Marketing Coordinator job classification be added 

as a pay range 26 with annual compensation being between $41,703.88-$50,333.08; and   
 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning has informed the Department of Human 

Resources that they have the monies in their budget to cover the recommended position that will 

be added to the compensation plan. 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Pay Plan adopted by the City Council on 

September 22, 1998, found in the Minute Book 4Y, be further amended to add the Marketing 

Coordinator with a pay range of 26 ($41,703.88-$50,333.08) to be effective immediately. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             569 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note: Council Member Stokes joined the meeting.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29624 to 29664 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 104 TO 122 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,952,892.02 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29624 to 29664 appearing at pages 

104 to 122, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$2,952,892.02 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 

 

                                                                                                                  TO 

                                                                                                 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                         FUND 

GENERAL FUND   630,708.28 

SEIZURE & FORF PORP-STATE   63,708.00 

SEIZURE & FORF PROP-FED  49,666.67 

TECHNOLOGY FUND  16,554.90 

PARKS & RECR. FUND  41,819.95 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  833,436.30 

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  410,000.00 

WATER/SEWER CAPITAL IMPR FUND  1,061.48 

WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND   11,459.15 

EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND   130,584.05 

PAYROLL FUND  374.41 

HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  470.19 

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSENTATION REVO  7,255.97 

H O P W A GRANT – DEPT OF HUD   109,261.87 

TRANSPORTATION FUND   65,564.11 

2018 TIF BOND $1.7M  - WESTIN   1,750.00 

2018 TIF BOND $4.6M – EASTOVER   61,586.40 

CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND   388.84 

MDB SO INFRASTRUCTURE BOND 2020  3,000.00 

MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM   3,000.00 

CDBG COVID CARES   316,966.78 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  32,024.01 

LIBRARY FUND  162,250.66 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $2,952,892.02 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who recommended 

an amendment on claims to remove a payment to Jackson Resource Center, in the amount of 

$316,966.78. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             570 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, Kristie Metcalf, Deputy City 

Attorney, and Sharon Thames, Deputy Director of Finance and Administration who provided 

a brief overview of the item removed from claims. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Council Member Foote moved; seconded by Council Member Lindsay, to amend said order to 

reflect the changes as stated by Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer. The motion 

prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Abstentions – Stokes.  

Absent – None.    

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Grizzell who moved; seconded by Vice President 

Lee to remove all Mac Haik Chrysler and Jackson Mac Haik payments in the amount of $93,558.07 

from claims and refer them to the Audit & Investigation Ad Hoc Committee. The motion prevailed 

by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Abstention – Stokes.  

Absent – None.    

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
          

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item as amended:  

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29624 to 29664 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 104 TO 122 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $2,542,367.17 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29624 to 29664 appearing at pages 

104 to 122, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$2,542,367.17 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 

 

                                                                                                       TO 

                                                                                   ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                               FUND 

GENERAL FUND  601,415.47  

SEIZURE & FORF PROP-STATE  49,666.67  

SEIZURE & FORF PROP-FED  49,666.67  

TECHNOLOGY FUND  16,554.90  

PARKS & RECR. FUND  41,262.69  

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  833,436.30  

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  410,000.00  

WATER/SEWER REVENUE FUND  1,061.48  

WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  11,459.15 

EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND  130,584.05  

PAYROLL FUND  374.41 

HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  470.19  

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION REVO  7,255.97  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             571 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

H O P W A GRANT - DEPT. OF HUD  109,261.87  

TRANSPORTATION FUND  65,564.11  

2018 TIF BOND $1.7M - WESTIN  1,750.00  

2018 TIF BOND $4.6M - EASTOVER  61,586.40  

CAPITAL CITY REVENUE FUND  388.84  

MDB SO INFRASTRCTURE BOND 2020  3,000.00  

MHC BLIGHT ELIMINATION PROGRAM  3,000.00  

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  32,024.01  

LIBRARY FUND  162,250.66  

   

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,542,367.17 

 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks, Hartley and Stokes.  

Absent – None.    

  * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 

 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 29624 TO 29664 AND MAKING 

 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 29624 to 29664 

inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $98,908.59 

plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 

municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 

fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 

payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 

         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     

                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,670,947.42 

PARKS & RECR FUND  89,506.08 

LANDFILL FUND  22,700.66 

SENIOR AIDES  3,446.22 

WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  62,841.10 

PAYROLL  $98,908.59  

HOUSING COMM DEV  8,894.73 

TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,994.63 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  15,975.85 

PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,463.74 

2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  32,946.37 

NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING 

COMM 

 7,400.70 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,933,523.21 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             572 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

ORDER RATIFYING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF THREE HUNDRED AND 

FIFTY DOLLARS ($350.00) TO THE MS ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT 

PURCHASING/PROPERTY AGENTS FOR THE COST OF ATTENDANCE OF 

THE PURCHASING MANAGER AND A BUYER TO ATTEND THE 2023 

MAGPPA ANNUAL CONFERENCE AND VENDOR EXPO.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated (1972), as amended, 

states that the governing authorities of every municipality in the state shall have the care, 

management, and control of municipal affairs and its property and finances and may adopt orders, 

resolutions, or ordinances with respect to same which are not inconsistent with the Mississippi 

Constitution of 1890, the Mississippi Code of 1972, or any other statute or law of the State of 

Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, the power granted to governing authorities of municipalities by Section 21-

17-5 is complete without the existence of or reference to any specific authority granted in any other 

statute or law of the State of Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Mississippi State Association of Governmental Purchasing and Property 

Agents (MAGPPA) serves hundreds of public purchasing professionals throughout Mississippi by 

promoting and maintaining high ethical values, enhancing public purchasing practices, protecting 

the public trust, and making a positive difference by leading the way through excellence; and 

 

WHEREAS, various seminars, conferences, workshops, and other educational programs 

are held from time to time that contain information that would greatly benefit the City by the 

attendance of the Purchasing Division; and 

 

WHEREAS, the 2023 MAGPPA Annual Conference and Vendor Expo took place from 

Sunday, October 15, 2023 until Wednesday, October 18, 2023 in Natchez, MS; and 

 

WHEREAS, the cost of the Purchasing Manager and a Buyer for the city of Jackson 

attended this conference was $175.00 per member; and 

 

WHEREAS, the requisite finding regarding the necessity of the expenditure for the benefit 

of the municipality must be made before the expenditure is authorized; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Finance requests that the governing authorities for the City 

find that the cost to attend the 2023 MAGPPA Annual Conference and Vendor Expo is reasonable 

and necessary to the performance of the Purchasing Manager’s and a Buyer’s duties and the 

attendance of these employee’s at said conference accrued to the benefit of the city of Jackson, 

and any benefit to the employees are merely incidental. 

 

  IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities find that the cost to 

attend the 2023 MAGPPA Annual Conference and Vendor Expo is reasonable and necessary to 

the performance of the Purchasing Manager’s and a Buyer’s duties and the attendance of these 

employees at said conference accrued to the benefit of the city of Jackson, and any benefit to the 

employees are merely incidental. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a payment of Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars 

($350.00) is hereby ratified, and payment should be made to the Mississippi Association of 

Governmental Purchasing/Property Agent from account no. 00141410-6473 for the cost of the 

Purchasing Manager and a Buyer for the city of Jackson to attend the 2023 MAGPPA Conference 

and Vendor Expo held on October 15, 2023 through October 18, 2023 in Natchez, MS. 

 

 Note: Said item failed due to a lack of motion.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER REAPPOINTING SHARON F. BRIDGES TO THE JACKSON 

MUNICIPAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY BOARD.  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Municipal Airport Authority Board consists of five (5) members 

nominated by the Mayor for a term of five (5) years; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             573 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, the term of Sharon F. Bridged expired October 23, 2023. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that Sharon F. Bridges be reappointed to the Jackson 

Municipal Airport Authority Board with said term to expire October 23, 2028. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Sharon Bridges, who gave her personal statement and answered 

questions posed to her by Council Members. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPOINTING EMILY POTE TO THE PLANNING BOARD OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSON.  

WHEREAS, the Planning Board is comprised of fifteen (15) members who each serve 

four-year terms; and 

 

     WHEREAS, on March 28, 2019, the City Council confirmed the Mayor’s appointment of 

Jennifer Welch to the Planning Board with a term to expire on March 19, 2023; and 

 

       WHEREAS, the Mayor, after evaluation and review of her qualifications, has appointed 

Emily Pote to fill the board vacancy for Ward 7 with a term to begin on November 21, 2023 and 

to expire on March 19, 2027.  

 

        IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s nomination of Emily Pote to the 

Planning Board of the City of Jackson be confirmed with said term to begin on November 21, 2023 

and to expire on March 19, 2027. 

 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – Foote. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPOINTING VICK HUDSON TO THE PLANNING BOARD OF THE 

CITY OF JACKSON.  

WHEREAS, the Planning Board is comprised of fifteen (15) members who each serve 

four-year terms; and 

 

WHEREAS, on March 28, 2019, the City Council confirmed the Mayor’s appointment of 

Jennifer Welch to fill the At-Large board vacancy for the Planning Board with a term that expired 

on March 19, 2023. 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor, after evaluation and review of his qualifications, has appointed 

Vick Hudson to fill the At-Large board vacancy with a term to begin on December 1, 2023. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             574 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s appointment of Vick Hudson to the 

Planning Board of the City of Jackson be confirmed with the term to begin on December 1, 2023 

and to expire on December 1, 2027. 

 

Council Member Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – Foote. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPOINTING SIDNEY H. GLADNEY TO THE PLANNING BOARD OF 

THE CITY OF JACKSON.  

WHEREAS, the Planning Board is comprised of fifteen (15) members who each serve 

four-year terms; and 

 

    WHEREAS, on October 24, 2017, the City Council confirmed the Mayor’s reappointment 

of Vivian Dotson to fill the board vacancy for Ward 5 on the Planning Board with a term that 

expired on October 31, 2021; and 

 

     WHEREAS, the Mayor, after evaluation and review of his qualifications, has appointed 

Sidney H. Gladney to fill the board vacancy for Ward 5 with a term to begin on November 21, 

2023. 

 

     IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s appointment of Sidney H. Gladney 

to the Planning Board of the City of Jackson be confirmed with the term to begin on November 

21, 2023 and to expire on November 21, 2027. 

 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – Foote. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPOINTING BERTHA THAMES TO THE PLANNING BOARD OF 

THE CITY OF JACKSON.  

WHEREAS, the Planning Board is comprised of fifteen (15) members who each serve 

four-year terms; and 

 

WHEREAS, on October 24, 2017, the City Council confirmed the Mayor’s reappointment 

of Samuel J. Mitchell to fill the board vacancy for Ward 2 on the Planning Board with a term that 

expired on October 31, 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor, after evaluation and review of her qualifications, has appointed 

Bertha J. Thames to fill the board vacancy for Ward 2 with a term to begin on November 21, 2023. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s appointment of Bertha J. Thames to 

the Planning Board of the City of Jackson be confirmed with the term to begin on November 21, 

2023 and to expire on November 21, 2027. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Banks seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – Foote. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPOINTING CHRIS MYERS TO THE PLANNING AND ZONING 

BOARD OF THE CITY OF JACKSON.  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             575 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Board is comprised of fifteen (15) members; and 

that serve for a term of four (4) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, Elizabeth M. Brister’s term expired on December 18, 2022; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chris Myers resident of Ward 1, after evaluation of his qualifications, has 

been nominated by the Mayor to fill said vacancy. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s nomination of Chris Myers, to the 

Planning Board of the City of Jackson be confirmed with said term to expire January 31, 2027. 

 

Note: Item failed due to a lack of motion.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A MEMORANDUM OF 

UNDERSTANDING WITH THE MISSISSIPPI STATE FIRE ACADEMY (MSFA) 

TO PROVIDE SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH NFPA107F COURSE TO THE 

JACKSON FIRE DEPARTMENT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Fire Department will begin a recruit training class on 

November 27, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Fire Department provides some training to recruits and 

other training is conducted by the Mississippi State Fire Academy; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi State Fire Minimum Standards Board was authorized to 

promulgate regulations establishing minimum educational and training standards, and process for 

certifying fire personnel in the State of Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, regulations of the Mississippi State Minimum Standards Board require the 

completion of the NFPA 1072F by all candidates prior to entering into an approved Firefighter I 

and II training program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the regulations further require that the NFPA 1072F be administered at the 

Mississippi State Fire Academy or through a field delivery program; and 

 

WHEREAS, the anticipated date for the commencement of the field delivery program is 

November 27, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi State Fire Academy has provided the Jackson Fire 

Department with a Memorandum of Understanding related to the candidates it is recommending 

for participation in the field delivery program with provisions as follows: 

 

(1)   The location of the field delivery program will be the Jackson Fire Department 

Training Facility: and 

 

(2)   The Mississippi State Fire Academy will furnish to the course coordinator for the City 

of Jackson Fire Department the Fire Fighter NFPA 1072F course and a complete package to 

manage delivery of the course; and 

 

(3)   Books will not be included in the materials furnished the City of Jackson Fire 

Department, and the City of Jackson is responsible for purchasing any required books from 

textbook publisher; and 

 

(4)   All documents and curriculum furnished to the City of Jackson Fire Department shall 

constitute property of the Mississippi State Fire Academy and may not be duplicated or used 

outside of the subject delivery; and 

 

(5)   The Mississippi State Fire Academy will approve and administer all written and skill 

examinations 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             576 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(6)   Certifications will be issued upon the successful completion of the course; and 

 

(7)   The minimum number of candidates has been removed due to COVID and the 

maximum number of candidates for the field delivery course is fifteen (15); and 

 

(8)   The Jackson Fire Department will have a total of twenty (20) students participating. 

There is no charge (GRANT FUNDED); and 

 

WHEREAS, the best interest of the public health, safety, and welfare would be served by 

authorizing the Mayor to execute the MOU with the Mississippi State Fire Academy. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute the MOU with 

the Mississippi State Fire Academy for the delivery course anticipated to commence on November 

27, 2023. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Stokes seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Grizzell. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL TO RECEIVE FUTURE PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES FROM AND MAKE PAYMENTS TO OPEN DOORS GARAGE DOOR 

SERVICES LLC RELATED TO THE REPAIR, MAINTENANCE, AND 

SERVICING OF PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES’DOORS AND 

GARAGE DOORS.  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo has a chimp exhibit that needs maintenance and repairs 

including the maintenance and repair of doors to the exhibit; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo requested a quote from Open Doors Garage Doors Services 

(Open Doors); and 

 

WHEREAS, Open Doors is an active vendor with the City of Jackson - vendor no. 400338; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Open Doors is a Limited Liability Company, currently in Good Standing 

with the Mississippi Secretary of the State, created pursuant to the Laws of the State of Mississippi 

on October 30, 2020; and 

 

WHEREAS, Open Doors provided a quote for maintenance, repairs and/or replacement 

of the door(s) for the chimp exhibit at the Jackson Zoo; and 

 

WHEREAS, the quote submitted by Open Doors included two (2) Liftmaster 8165 door 

opener(s), two (2) 7’ Chain Rails with labor, fabrication, and servicing to the door(s) for the chimp 

exhibit, for the price of Three Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-Five Dollars ($3,285.00); and  

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson and the Jackson Zoo to have 

the above-described work performed to the chimp exhibit to provide efficiency and safer habitats 

for animals, keepers, and patrons; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is also in the best interests of the City of Jackson that Open Doors be 

permitted to perform maintenance, repairs, servicing, and other related work, as needed, to other 

Parks and Recreation Department facilities that need that type of servicing. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above-described quote for professional door services 

of the chimp exhibit at the Jackson Zoo provided by Open Doors is approved and accepted and 

that payment in the amount of One Thousand One Hundred Seventy Dollars ($1,170.00) be made 

to Open Doors from account no. 390-498.00-6317. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             577 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the above-described quote for professional door 

services of the chimp exhibit at the Jackson Zoo provided by Open Doors is approved and accepted 

and that payment in the amount of Two Thousand One Hundred Fifteen Dollars ($2,115.00) be 

made to Open Doors from account no. 390-498.00-6419. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all future professional door services performed by 

Open Doors for the Parks and Recreation Department is approved and that payments for said 

professional door services be made to Open Doors from the Parks and Recreation Department’s 

Budget. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 

needed to effectuate the above professional door services that are to be performed by Open Doors. 

 

Note: Item failed due to a lack of motion.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved, seconded by Council Member 

Hartley to reconsider the previous item. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Thereafter, President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order:  

ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL TO RECEIVE FUTURE PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES FROM AND MAKE PAYMENTS TO OPEN DOORS GARAGE DOOR 

SERVICES LLC RELATED TO THE REPAIR, MAINTENANCE, AND 

SERVICING OF PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES’DOORS AND 

GARAGE DOORS.  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo has a chimp exhibit that needs maintenance and repairs 

including the maintenance and repair of doors to the exhibit; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson Zoo requested a quote from Open Doors Garage Doors Services 

(Open Doors); and 

 

WHEREAS, Open Doors is an active vendor with the City of Jackson - vendor no. 400338; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Open Doors is a Limited Liability Company, currently in Good Standing 

with the Mississippi Secretary of the State, created pursuant to the Laws of the State of Mississippi 

on October 30, 2020; and 

 

WHEREAS, Open Doors provided a quote for maintenance, repairs and/or replacement 

of the door(s) for the chimp exhibit at the Jackson Zoo; and 

 

WHEREAS, the quote submitted by Open Doors included two (2) Liftmaster 8165 door 

opener(s), two (2) 7’ Chain Rails with labor, fabrication, and servicing to the door(s) for the chimp 

exhibit, for the price of Three Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-Five Dollars ($3,285.00); and  

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the City of Jackson and the Jackson Zoo to have 

the above-described work performed to the chimp exhibit to provide efficiency and safer habitats 

for animals, keepers, and patrons; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is also in the best interests of the City of Jackson that Open Doors be 

permitted to perform maintenance, repairs, servicing, and other related work, as needed, to other 

Parks and Recreation Department facilities that need that type of servicing. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above-described quote for professional door services 

of the chimp exhibit at the Jackson Zoo provided by Open Doors is approved and accepted and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             578 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

that payment in the amount of One Thousand One Hundred Seventy Dollars ($1,170.00) be made 

to Open Doors from account no. 390-498.00-6317. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the above-described quote for professional door 

services of the chimp exhibit at the Jackson Zoo provided by Open Doors is approved and accepted 

and that payment in the amount of Two Thousand One Hundred Fifteen Dollars ($2,115.00) be 

made to Open Doors from account no. 390-498.00-6419. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that all future professional door services performed by 

Open Doors for the Parks and Recreation Department is approved and that payments for said 

professional door services be made to Open Doors from the Parks and Recreation Department’s 

Budget. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any document(s) 

needed to effectuate the above professional door services that are to be performed by Open Doors. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; President Banks seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

     

President Banks recognized Abram Muhammad, Deputy Director of Parks and Recreation, 

who provided a brief overview of said item.  

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention – Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT FOR 

HOME FUNDS THROUGH THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND HABITAT FOR 

HUMANITY MISSISSIPPI CAPITAL AREA.  

WHEREAS, in 2022 the Department of Planning and Development accepted proposals 

for the use of HOME funds within the Division of Housing and Community Development; and 

 

WHEREAS, Habitat for Humanity Mississippi Capital Area submitted a response to the 

request for proposals for the use of HOME funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, Habitat for Humanity Mississippi Capital Area has a principal office located 

at 615 Stonewall Street Jackson, Mississippi 39213; and 

 

WHEREAS, Habitat for Humanity Mississippi Capital Area has been awarded 

$690,711.69 (six hundred ninety thousand seven hundred eleven dollars and sixty-nine cents) in 

Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO) funds and $335,588.31 in entitlement 

funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the total amount awarded is $1,026,300 and will be used to assist in the 

Broadmoor Initiative with the acquisition, rehab and new construction of six (6) homes to be sold 

to low-income families. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to contract with Habitat 

for Humanity Mississippi Capital Area to provide certain development and construction cost 

relating to the Broadmoor Initiative project located in the City of Jackson. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

     



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             579 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, and 

Merrill Tenney McKewen, Executive Director of Habitat for Humanity Mississippi Capital 

Area, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH 

CHAIN ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR GENERAL CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 

INCLUDING MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR FOR THE FARISH STREET 

LIGHTING PROJECT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson seeks to engage in street light improvements needed for 

Farish Street; and 

 

WHEREAS, said improvements will be made along Amite and Hamilton on Farish Street 

and will include the removal of 23 light poles and the installation of 7 cobra head lights; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development solicited 

quotes for professional services for construction and maintenance including but not limited to 

boring and light removal; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chain Electric Company submitted the lowest quote in the amount of 

$72,900.00. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized execute a contract and 

related documents with Chain Electric Company to provide light removal and boring on Farish 

Street. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the amount payable under the contract shall not exceed 

$72,900.00. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development and Robert 

Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Council Member Stokes who moved, and Council Member Hartley seconded to amend said 

order in the Header and It Is Therefore Ordered section, to change “contract” to “professional 

services agreement”. The motion prevailed by the following votes: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.     
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said order, as amended: 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH CHAIN ELECTRIC COMPANY FOR 

GENERAL CONSTRUCTION SERVICES INCLUDING MAINTENANCE AND 

REPAIR FOR THE FARISH STREET LIGHTING PROJECT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson seeks to engage in street light improvements needed for 

Farish Street; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             580 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, said improvements will be made along Amite and Hamilton on Farish Street 

and will include the removal of 23 light poles and the installation of 7 cobra head lights; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development solicited 

quotes for professional services for construction and maintenance including but not limited to 

boring and light removal; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chain Electric Company submitted the lowest quote in the amount of 

$72,900.00. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized execute a professional 

services agreement and related documents with Chain Electric Company to provide light removal 

and boring on Farish Street. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the amount payable under the contract shall not exceed 

$72,900.00. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO K. MARK BRADY AND INSITE 

VALUATIONS FOR APPRAISAL SERVICE ON APORTION OF CITY OF 

JACKSON OWNED LAND PARCEL IN ORDER TO OBTAIN FAIR MARKET 

LEASE AMOUNT FOR RENEWAL OF EXPIRED LEASE.  

WHEREAS, on September 12, 2022, the U.S. Army submitted an application to the 

Surplus Property Division to renew a fifty-year lease that expired on June 30, 2022, the lease 

being of 9.46 acres of parcel number 307-1; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Surplus Property Committee approved the renewal of a fifty-year lease 

pursuant to terms of Mississippi Code Section 21-17-1(2)(b)(i), which requires that two appraisals 

are to be obtained to get the average market value, and thus the monthly lease amount; and 

 

WHEREAS, after no city department expressed a municipal need for the property, the 

Surplus Property Division issued a request for appraisal service quotes to six (6) certified 

appraisers; and 

WHEREAS, the two lowest quotes were received from K. Mark Brady in the amount of 

One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1,500.00) and Insite Valuations in the amount of One 

Thousand Nine Hundred Fifty Dollars ($1,950.00); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Mississippi Code Section 21-17-1(2)(b)(i), the applicant will 

reimburse the City One Thousand Seven Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars ($1,725.00), representing 

fifty percent of the total fee. 

  IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that it be authorized that The City of Jackson pay K. 

Mark Brady One Thousand Five Hundred dollars ($1,500.00) and Insite Valuations One Thousand 

Nine Hundred Fifty dollars ($1,950.00) for the appraisal of 9.46 acres of City-owned property for 

the purpose of establishing the fair market value lease amount for renewal of a fifty-year lease 

with the U.S. Army. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $3,450.00 shall be 

paid for the appraisal service rendered from funds budgeted for the Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             581 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF TREE CUTTING AND REMOVAL 

SERVICES AT LEAVELL WOODS PARK FROM EVANS TREE SERVICE, LLC 

AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO SAID VENDOR FOR THE DEPARTMENT 

OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, on Tuesday, November 21, 2023, the Department of Parks and Recreation 

requested assistance with removal of a tree that snapped; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works assessed the tree and found it to be broken 

at the base, leaning on another tree, and in danger of falling onto the walking trail, Meadow Lane, 

and on overhead power and utility lines; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to protect the public from the danger of a tree unpredictably falling 

onto passing vehicles and pedestrians, the Department of Public Works contacted a tree service to 

cut down and remove the tree on very short notice the day before Thanksgiving; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to these exigent circumstances, the procurement of this tree cutting and 

removal work was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City 

Council of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the services set forth in the invoice attached hereto was provided to the 

Department of Public Works and said tree work has been rendered. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of tree cutting and removal 

services at Leavell Woods Park from Evans Tree Service, LLC is hereby ratified. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to the following vendor in the amount set 

forth be made, consistent with the attached invoice: 

 

Vendor Invoice No.   Invoice Date Amount 

Evans Tree Service, LLC 6386 11/22/2023 $2,800.00 

 

 
Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Stokes seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             582 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

ORDER AUTHORIZING FINAL PAYMENT TO THE CONTRACT WITH LEWIS 

ELECTRIC, INC. FOR REPAIRS TO THE TRAFFIC SIGNAL AT NORTHSIDE 

DRIVE AT LIVINGSTON ROAD.  

WHEREAS, the City Council ratified a contract with Lewis Electric, Inc. to repair to the 

traffic signal at Northside Drive at Livingston Road in an amount not to exceed $27,250.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, all work has been completed on the contract, inspected, and accepted. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that final payment in the amount of $27,250.00 to 

Lewis Electric, Inc. for repairs to the traffic signal at Northside Drive at Livingston Road is hereby 

authorized. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Municipal Clerk is authorized to publish the Notice 

of Completion for the project. 

 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

                                                         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN 

SUPPORT OF THE KWANZAA CELEBRATION AND WISHING A HAPPY AND 

SAFE OBSERVANCE FOR ALL CITIZENS.  

WHEREAS, citizens in the City of Jackson and people throughout the world pause to 

celebrate KWANZAA, December 26th through January 1st of each year; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the annual celebration is marked by community gatherings, cultural events 

and historical commemorations; and 

 

          WHEREAS, KWANZAA events are held nightly with each night designated by a guiding 

principle: 1) Umoja, 2) Kujichagulia, 3) Ujima, 4) Ujamaa, 5) Nia 6) Kuumba and 7) Imani; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council promotes safety and expresses hope for a positive 

and enlightening cultural experience for all. 

 

          THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Councilman Kenneth I. Stokes and his Council 

colleagues highly support the observance of Kwanzaa and wish for its citizens a safe, 

happy KWANZAA celebration. 

 

 Council Member Stokes moved adoption; President Banks seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN 

SUPPORT OF THE CELEBRATION OF A MERRY CHRISTMAS, 2023.  

WHEREAS, the well-being of family and community shall be considered in this 

resolution; and                                                                                              



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             583 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

    WHEREAS, the first official mention of December 25th as a holiday honoring Jesus’ 

birthday appeared on an early Roman calendar from 336 A.D.; and        

 

    WHEREAS, the celebration of Christmas spread throughout the Western world over the 

next several centuries; in 1870, Christmas became a federal holiday; Christians throughout the 

world will celebrate this day; and 

 

    WHEREAS, Monday, December 25, 2023, will be celebrated as a time for family 

to:  gather, focus on the center of Christmas - -the birth of Jesus, prepare and share in fellowship 

and food; and 

 

    WHEREAS, as we celebrate this joyous season, may we embrace ways to love and serve 

humankind throughout the year; and 

 

    WHEREAS, we wish each citizen a safe, joyful and peaceful Christmas, filled with love. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Councilman Kenneth I. Stokes and his 

Council colleagues recognize and wish for each of you, a very Merry Christmas. 

 

 Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN 

SUPPORT OF THE CELEBRATION OF A HAPPY NEW YEAR, 2024.  

WHEREAS, the well-being of family and community shall be considered in this 

resolution; and 

 

WHEREAS, the holiday, referred to as New Year, marks the end of the year and time to 

start afresh, make new and/or evaluate decisions as we prepare for 2024; the new year has not 

always been celebrated on January 1st and is not recognized in some cultures; and  

 

WHEREAS, Monday, January 1, 2024, will be celebrated as a time for family to gather, 

share a delightful meal, reflect on its journey and renew family commitment(s); and 

 

WHEREAS, as the countdown to midnight begins, we admonish each person to take a 

moment to reflect, introspect and change or make new plans as we go forward into the New Year; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, we encourage our citizens to relax, restore and recommit to investing our 

time and talents for the betterment of our family, community and city, Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, we wish for each citizen a safe and fulfilling New Year. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that Councilman Kenneth I. Stokes and his 

Council colleagues recognize and wish for each of you, a Happy New Year. 

 

 Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI IN 

SUPPORT OF THE 2024 REVEREND DR. MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. 

BIRTHDAY CELEBRATION OBSERVANCE.  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             584 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr was born January 15, 1929 and fell to 

the bullet of an assassin on April 4, 1968 which saddened hearts of people throughout the world; 

and 

 

        WHEREAS, the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. celebration shall be observed 

January, 2024 in Jackson, MS; and 

 

       WHEREAS, minister, Nobel Peace Prize recipient, civil and human rights drum major and 

leader, Reverend Dr. King, Jr. was at the helm of matchless efforts on behalf of the poor and 

disenfranchised in the United States and throughout the world; and 

 

        WHEREAS, the entire nation and world will join in the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King, 

Jr. Birthday Celebration, 2024; we in Jackson, Mississippi will observe through:  literary contests, 

church celebrations, choir performances, crowned by an enlightening Awards Banquet; the largest 

Martin Luther King, Jr. Observance Parade in the United States, January 13, 2024 and a Birthday 

Bash, January 15, 2024. 

       

       THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the City of Jackson is hereby authorized 

to support and join the Reverend Dr. Martin Luther, King, Jr. Birthday Celebration Observance, 

2024. 

 

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Grizzell who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Hartley to reconsider Agenda Item No. 15. After a brief discussion, President Banks 

recognized Council Member Grizzell and Council Member Hartley who withdrew their motion 

and second.   

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: LITTER CONTROL: President Banks recognized Council Member 

Lindsay who expressed concerns regarding what citizens can do to report liter. President 

Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Director of Public Works, who provided an 

overview of the possibility of getting help with liter control from the penal farm. President 

Banks also recognized Lakesha Weathers, Solid Waste Manager, who stated a new 

Ordinance would soon be introduced to aid in liter control.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: MEDGAR EVERS BLVD: President Banks recognized Council 

Member Stokes who expressed concerns regarding drag racing on Medgar Evers Blvd. 

President Banks recognized Chris Gray, Constituent Services Manager, who stated the 

Jackson Police Department was aware of the problem and would be addressing it.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: WATER BILLS: President Banks recognized Council Member Stokes 

who expressed concerns regarding sewer problems on Mobile St. and the need for 

customers to have an appeal process with JXN Water when there is a dispute.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, DECEMBER  5, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             585 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING TO 

SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972. 

President Banks stated that all City Council members had received the monthly financial 

report for review. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

• Chris Gray, Constituent Services Manager, announced the following: 

 

▪ The Jackson Christmas Parade will be held downtown Jackson, Saturday December 

12, 2023 Starting at 3:00 p.m.  

                 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Regular Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on November 13, 2023.  At 2:22 p.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.   

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

 

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST:  

 

                                         ____________     

      CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 









































































ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 2-71(c) OF THE CITY OF JACKSON 

CODE OF ORDINANCES. 

             

WHEREAS, Section 2-71(c) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances establishes 

guidelines and requirements regarding speaking limitations, public comments, and council 

chamber conduct during meetings of the Jackson City Council; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the current guidelines and requirements regarding speaking limitations, 

public comments, and council chamber conduct during meetings, as set forth in Section 2-71 of 

the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances, is as follows: 

 

(a)  No member of the council shall be permitted to speak more than once on any subject, 

until all members desiring to speak have spoken. A member may not speak more than five 

minutes without obtaining the consent of the council, by majority vote. 

 

(b)  Any person desiring to address the council with reference to any item on the agenda 

for that meeting must register with the clerk of council no later than 12 noon on the business 

day immediately preceding the regular or special calledmeeting, and shall provide, in 

writing, his name, his address, and the number of the agenda item with reference to which 

he desires to speak. The number of instances allowed for public comment on an item on 

the agenda (whether by individuals, organizations, or other entities) during a regular or 

special called meeting of the Jackson City Council is limited to five (5), whether in-person 

or virtually.  When recognized by the president, such person may speak only once with 

reference to any agenda item and for a portion of the time not to exceed three minutes, 

unless such period of time is extended by a majority vote of the council. Such public 

comments will be received prior to the consideration of ordinances, orders, or resolutions. 

 

(c)  Any person desiring to address the council with reference to any matter which is not 

on the agenda must register with the clerk of council no later than 12 noon on the business 

day immediately preceding a special called meeting referred to as a “Citizen Agenda 

Meeting”, to be held on the Thursday after the last Council meeting of the Month, and shall 

provide, in writing, his name, his address, and the subject matter with reference to which 

he wishes to address the council. The number of instances allowed for public comment on 

an item not on the agenda (whether by individuals, organizations, or other entities) during 

this special called meeting, is limited to five (5), whether in-person or virtually.  When 

recognized by the president, such person may speak only once with reference to such matter 

and for a period of time not to exceed three minutes, unless such period of time is extended 

by a majority of the council. Such public comments will be received by the city council 

immediately prior to its adjournment and at the conclusion of all other city business. 

 

(d)  Notwithstanding any other provisions, no person shall address the council with 

reference to any personnel matter during any open meeting of the city council. 

 

(e)  No derogatory remarks concerning councilmembers or anyone present in the council 

chamber shall be permitted. The president shall suspend irrelevant speaking. A majority of 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Intro. to Ordinance Agenda Item No. 12December 19, 2023(S.Jordan, Banks)  



the members of the council have the right to suspend irrelevant speaking at any council 

meeting. 

 

(f)  Any person making personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks, derogatory remarks 

concerning councilmembers or anyone present in the council chambers, or who uses 

abusive, vulgar, or profane language, or who shall become boisterous while addressing the 

council shall be forthwith, by the presiding officer or the clerk of council, barred from 

further audience before the council and/or barred from council chambers, unless 

permission to continue or stay be granted by a majority vote of the council. 

 

(g)  The usage of cellular phones and paging devices shall be prohibited within the council 

chambers during council meetings. All such devices within the council chambers shall be 

placed on silence or vibrator mode during council meetings. The city clerk shall place signs 

within city hall notifying the public of said rule. Any person violating said rule shall first 

receive a verbal warning from the presiding officer; upon any additional violations, the 

presiding officer may bar the person from the remainder of the council meeting for which 

he is in violation, and the person shall be required to place all cellular phones and paging 

devices with city hall security prior to entering any city council meeting. 

 

            NOW BE IT ORDAINED BY THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL that Section 2-71 of 

the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances shall be amended to establish the speaking limitations, 

public comments, and council chamber conduct for meetings of the Jackson City Council as 

follows: 

 

(a)  No member of the council shall be permitted to speak more than once on any subject, 

until all members desiring to speak have spoken. A member may not speak more than five 

minutes without obtaining the consent of the council, by majority vote. 

 

(b)  Any person desiring to address the council with reference to any item on the agenda 

for that meeting must register with the clerk of council no later than 12 noon on the business 

day immediately preceding the regular or special called meeting, and shall provide, in 

writing, his name, his address, and the number of the agenda item with reference to which 

he desires to speak. The number of instances allowed for public comment on an item on 

the agenda (whether by individuals, organizations, or other entities) during a regular or 

special called meeting of the Jackson City Council is limited to five (5), whether in-person 

or virtually.  When recognized by the president, such person may speak only once with 

reference to any agenda item and for a portion of the time not to exceed three minutes, 

unless such period of time is extended by a majority vote of the council. Such public 

comments will be received prior to the consideration of ordinances, orders, or resolutions. 

 

(c)  Any person desiring to address the council with reference to any matter which is not 

on the agenda must register with the clerk of council no later than 12 noon on the business 

day immediately preceding a regular or special called meeting referred to as a “Citizen 

Agenda Meeting”, to be held on the Thursday after the last Council meeting of the Month, 

and shall provide, in writing, his name, his address, and the subject matter with reference 

to which he wishes to address the council. The number of instances allowed for public 



comment on an item not on the agenda (whether by individuals, organizations, or other 

entities) during this special called meeting, during a regular or special called meeting of 

the Jackson City Council is limited to five (5), whether in-person or virtually.  When 

recognized by the president, such person may speak only once with reference to such matter 

and for a period of time not to exceed three minutes, unless such period of time is extended 

by a majority of the council. Such public comments will be received by the city council 

immediately prior to its adjournment and at the conclusion of all other city business will 

be received prior to the consideration of ordinances, orders, or resolutions. 

 

(d)  Notwithstanding any other provisions, no person shall address the council with 

reference to any personnel matter during any open meeting of the city council. 

 

(e)  No derogatory remarks concerning councilmembers or anyone present in the council 

chamber shall be permitted. The president shall suspend irrelevant speaking. A majority of 

the members of the council have the right to suspend irrelevant speaking at any council 

meeting. 

 

(f)  Any person making personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks, derogatory remarks 

concerning councilmembers or anyone present in the council chambers, or who uses 

abusive, vulgar, or profane language, or who shall become boisterous while addressing the 

council shall be forthwith, by the presiding officer or the clerk of council, barred from 

further audience before the council and/or barred from council chambers, unless 

permission to continue or stay be granted by a majority vote of the council. 

 

(g)  The usage of cellular phones and paging devices shall be prohibited within the council 

chambers during council meetings. All such devices within the council chambers shall be 

placed on silence or vibrator mode during council meetings. The clerk of Council shall 

place signs within city hall notifying the public of said rule. Any person violating said rule 

shall first receive a verbal warning from the presiding officer; upon any additional 

violations, the presiding officer may bar the person from the remainder of the council 

meeting for which he is in violation, and the person shall be required to place all cellular 

phones and paging devices with city hall security prior to entering any city council meeting. 

 

            BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL that this 

Ordinance Amending Section 2-71 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances shall become 

effective in accordance with the provisions of Section 21-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated 

(1972), as amended. 

 

 

Agenda Item No. 12 

December 19, 2023 

(S.JORDAN, BANKS)  

 

 
 
 
 





ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 2-62 OF THE JACKSON CODE OF 

ORDINANCES.  

WHEREAS, Section 2-62 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances establishes locations 

and schedules of the Jackson City Council meetings; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the current guidelines and requirements establishing locations and schedules 

of the Jackson City Council meetings, as set forth in Section 2-62 of the City of Jackson Code of 

Ordinances, is as follows: 

 

(a)    Place of meetings. Unless notice to the contrary is given, all meetings of the city 

council shall be held in the council chamber. Certified, sworn law enforcement officers 

shall be present at the public entry doors of the council chamber before, during, and after 

regular and special called meetings of the council to ensure the safety of all in attendance. 

Attendance of individuals at regular and special called meetings of the council shall be 

limited to 20 persons, with the exception of council members, as well as members of the 

administration, members of the office of the clerk of council, and/or city staff. 

 

(b)   Regular meetings. Regular meetings of the council shall be held on every other 

Tuesday. The regular meeting times shall be held at 10:00 a.m. At 4:00 p.m. on each 

Monday preceding a regular Tuesday council meeting, the council will also hold a planning 

session to discuss the business to be considered at the following regular Tuesday council 

meeting. The planning session shall be limited to one and one-half hours. 

 

(c)   Zoning meetings. Zoning cases to be considered by the city council shall be heard 42 

days after the planning board makes its recommendation to the city council. 

 

(d)   Special meetings. Special meetings of the council may be called at any time by the 

mayor or a majority of the members of the council. A notification of such meeting shall be 

reduced to writing and posted in a public place in City Hall. When possible, special 

meetings are to be held on those Mondays that do not precede a regularly scheduled council 

meeting on Tuesday. Such notice shall include the time, place and general subject matter 

of such meetings. Members of the council shall be notified in the most expedient manner 

available, whether in writing or not; provided, however, that where possible the clerk shall 

give council members 24 hours' notice of such meetings. The 24-hour notice may be 

waived by the council when the council deems that an adequate notice has been given and 

when a quorum is present at the special meeting. 

 

(e)     Committee meetings. Committee meetings may be called at any time by the chair of 

the committee, upon 48 hours' notice of the same to all council committee members. A 

notification of such meeting shall be reduced to writing and posted in a public place in city 

hall. 

 

(f)   Citizens’ Agenda Meetings will be held on the last Thursday of each month at 6:00 

p.m. in the council chamber. At this time, the city council will entertain public comments 

unrelated to items found on the regular council agenda, proclamations, special 

presentations, commendations, and resolutions honoring individuals, businesses, groups, 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Intro. to Ordinance Agenda Item No. 13December 19, 2023(S.Jordan, Banks)  



or organizations.  The city council may call a Citizens’ Agenda Meeting on dates and at 

times and locations set by a majority of the members of the council. During this Citizens’ 

Agenda Meeting, members of the public may be permitted to give comment or input within 

the prescribed time limit of three (3) minutes per speaker. Prospective speakers at this 

special called meeting must register with the clerk of council no later than 12 noon on the 

business day immediately preceding the special called meeting, and shall provide, in 

writing, his name, his address, and the number of the agenda item with reference to which 

he desires to speak. At any Citizens’ Agenda Meeting, the city council may take such action 

as is appropriate under the circumstances on any matter found on the agenda for that 

meeting. The agenda for the Citizens’ Agenda Meeting shall give notice that official action 

may be taken on matters found on the agenda. 

 

 

NOW BE IT ORDAINED BY THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL that Section 2-62 of 

the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances shall be amended to establish the locations and schedules 

for meetings of the Jackson City Council as follows: 

 

(a)    Place of meetings. Unless notice to the contrary is given, all meetings of the city 

council shall be held in the council chamber. Certified, sworn law enforcement officers 

shall be present at the public entry doors of the council chamber before, during, and after 

regular and special called meetings of the council to ensure the safety of all in attendance. 

Attendance of individuals at regular and special called meetings of the council shall be 

limited to 20 persons, with the exception of council members, as well as members of the 

administration, members of the office of the clerk of council, and/or city staff. 

 

(b)   Regular meetings. Regular meetings of the council shall be held on every other 

Tuesday. The regular meeting times shall be held at 10:00 a.m. At 4:00 p.m. on each 

Monday preceding a regular Tuesday council meeting, the council will also hold a planning 

session to discuss the business to be considered at the following regular Tuesday council 

meeting. The planning session shall be limited to one and one-half hours. 

 

(c)   Zoning meetings. Zoning cases to be considered by the city council shall be heard 42 

days after the planning board makes its recommendation to the city council. 

 

(d)   Special meetings. Special meetings of the council may be called at any time by the 

mayor or a majority of the members of the council. A notification of such meeting shall be 

reduced to writing and posted in a public place in City Hall. When possible, special 

meetings are to be held on those Mondays that do not precede a regularly scheduled council 

meeting on Tuesday. Such notice shall include the time, place and general subject matter 

of such meetings. Members of the council shall be notified in the most expedient manner 

available, whether in writing or not; provided, however, that where possible the clerk shall 

give council members 24 hours' notice of such meetings. The 24-hour notice may be 

waived by the council when the council deems that an adequate notice has been given and 

when a quorum is present at the special meeting. 

 



(e)     Committee meetings. Committee meetings may be called at any time by the chair of 

the committee, upon 48 hours' notice of the same to all council committee members. A 

notification of such meeting shall be reduced to writing and posted in a public place in city 

hall. 

 

(f)   Citizens’ Agenda Meetings will be held quarterly on the last Thursday of  the each 

month at 6:00 p.m. in the council chamber. At this time, the city council will entertain 

public comments unrelated to items found on the regular council agenda, proclamations, 

special presentations, commendations, and resolutions honoring individuals, businesses, 

groups, or organizations.  The city council may call a Citizens’ Agenda Meeting on dates 

and at times and locations set by a majority of the members of the council. During this 

Citizens’ Agenda Meeting, members of the public may be permitted to give comment or 

input within the prescribed time limit of three (3) minutes per speaker. Prospective speakers 

at this special called meeting must register with the clerk of council no later than 12 noon 

on the business day immediately preceding the special called meeting, and shall provide, 

in writing, his name, his address, and the number of the agenda item with reference to 

which he desires to speak. At any Citizens’ Agenda Meeting, the city council may take 

such action as is appropriate under the circumstances on any matter found on the agenda 

for that meeting. The agenda for the Citizens’ Agenda Meeting shall give notice that 

official action may be taken on matters found on the agenda. 

 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL that this 

Ordinance Amending Section 2-62 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances shall become 

effective in accordance with the provisions of Section 21-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated 

(1972), as amended. 

 

 

Agenda Item No.  13 

December 19, 2023 

(S. Jordan, Banks)  





ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 2-64 OF THE CITY OF JACKSON CODE 

OF ORDINANCES FOR THE PURPOSE OF RECONCILING THE ORDER OF 

BUSINESS OF THE COUNCIL WITH SECTION 2-71(B) AND SECTION 2-71(C) 

OF THE CITY OF JACKSON CODE OF ORDINANCES.  

WHEREAS, Section 2-64 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances establishes the order 

of business for formulating the agenda for meetings of the Jackson City Council; and 

             

            WHEREAS, the current order of business set forth in Section 2-64 of the City of Jackson 

Code of Ordinances is: 

 

(1)        Call to Order 

            (2)        Invocation 

            (3)        Pledge of Allegiance 

            (4)        Public hearings 

            (5)        Introductions 

            (6)        Public comments related to items appearing on the meeting agenda 

            (7)        Consent agenda 

            (8)        Introduction of ordinances and resolutions 

            (9)        Adoption of ordinances and resolutions 

            (10)      Regular agenda 

            (11)      Reports from city council members, mayor or department directors 

            (12)      Announcements 

            (13)      Adjournment 

 

and; 

 

            WHEREAS, Section 2-71(b) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances states that 

comments on items related to items on the agenda will be received prior to consideration of 

ordinances, orders, or resolutions; and 

 

            WHEREAS, Section 2-71(c) of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances provides that 

comments unrelated to items on the agenda will be received prior to the consideration of 

ordinances, orders, or resolutions; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the order of business set forth in Section 2-64 of the Jackson Code of 

Ordinances distinguishes between public comments on items related to the agenda and items 

unrelated to the agenda; and 

 

            WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Jackson City Council to add the following to the current 

order of business for regular Council meetings, and call special meetings to allow: (a) public 

comments on items unrelated to items appearing on the meeting agenda;  

 

            NOW BE IT ORDAINED BY THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL that Section 2-64 of 

the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances shall be amended to establish the order of business for 

formulating the agenda for meetings of the Jackson City Council as follows: 

 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Intro. to Ordinance Agenda Item No. 14December 19, 2023(S.Jordan, Banks)  



            (1)         Call to Order 

            (2)         Invocation 

            (3)         Pledge of Allegiance 

            (4)         Public hearings 

            (5)         Introductions 

            (6)         Public Comments  

            (7)         Consent agenda 

            (8)         Introduction of ordinances and resolutions 

            (9)         Adoption of ordinances and resolutions 

            (10)       Regular agenda 

(11)      Reports from city council members, mayor or department directors 

            (12)       Announcements 

            (13)       Adjournment 

 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL that this 

Ordinance amending Section 2-64 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances shall become 

effective in accordance with the provisions of Section 21-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated 

(1972), as amended. 
 

 

Agenda Item No. 14  

December 19, 2023 

(S.Jordan, Banks) 







ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI RE-ENACTING 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI CODE OF ORDINANCES, ARTICLE II SECTIONS 86-

51 THROUGH 86-62. (STOKES) 

 

 WHEREAS, the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of the City of Jackson 

shall be considered by this Ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, the re-enactment of the “City of Jackson Curfew Ordinance” is made 

necessary and has been overwhelmingly desired by the citizens of the City of Jackson because of 

a rise in the incidents of crimes, including, violence, robberies, and murders allegedly being 

committed by a growing number of youth in the City of Jackson; and 

 

    WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council proactively legislates this re-enactment of the 

Curfew Ordinance as a preemptive step to prevent the escalation of the acts of crime and violence 

allegedly being committed by a growing number of youth in the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the “City of Jackson Curfew Ordinance” is hereby re-enacted as follows: 

 

 

        [ARTICLE II. CURFEW] 

 

 

Sec. 86-51. Short title to article. 

This article shall be known and may be cited as the "City of Jackson Curfew Ordinance." 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-52. Purpose and findings of article. 

The City Council of the City of Jackson has determined that juveniles have been congregating in 

the city causing general disturbances to residents, and contributing to an excessive number of 

incidents of drug and alcohol related crimes, thefts, homicides and assaults, including a high 

percentage of crimes committed by and against juveniles; and 

 

The City Council of the City of Jackson finds and determines that special and extenuating 

circumstances presently exist within this city that call for special regulation of minors within the 

city in order to protect them from each other and from other persons on the street during the 

nocturnal hours, to aid in crime prevention, to promote parental supervision and authority over 

minors, and to decrease juvenile crime rates; and 

 

In accordance with the prevailing community standards, this article serves to regulate the conduct 

of juveniles on streets during evening hours, and those hours prohibited by the Mississippi 

Compulsory School Attendance Law; to be effectively and consistently enforced for the protection 

of the juveniles in Jackson from each other and from other persons on the streets during nocturnal 

hours; to support parental control, authority, and responsibility for their children; to protect the 

public from nocturnal mischief by juveniles; to reduce the incidents of juvenile criminal activity; 

to further family responsibility; and to promote the public good, safety, and welfare. 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Intro. to Ordinance Agenda Item No. 15December 19, 2023(S.Jordan, Banks)  



After further review and continuing evaluation of this article, the City Council finds that there is 

continued justification for the purposes and findings herein to reinstate the curfew ordinance, as 

well as to extend the period of restrictions to coincide with the Mississippi Compulsory School 

Attendance Law. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-53. Definitions. 

For purpose of this article, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations shall have the 

meanings given herein. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in the present tense 

include the future, words in the plural number include the singular, and words in the singular 

number include the plural. The word "shall" is always mandatory and not merely discretionary or 

suggestive. 

 

City is the City of Jackson, Mississippi, with administrative offices at City Hall, 219 South 

President Street, Post Office Box 17, Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0017. 

 

Compulsory school age child is a child who has attained or will attain the age of five years on or 

before September 1 of the calendar year and who has not reached his/her 18th birthday on or before 

September 1 of the calendar year. 

 

Establishment means any privately-owned place of business operated for a profit to which the 

public is invited, including but not limited to any place of amusement or entertainment. 

 

Minor or juvenile is any unemancipated person who has not reached his/her 18th birthday. 

Parent is any person having legal custody of a minor: 

 

(1)  As a natural or adoptive parent; 

(2)  As a legal guardian; or 

(3)  As a person to whom legal custody has been given by court order. 

 

Police department shall refer to the police department headquarters located at 327 E. Pascagoula 

Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39201, or any officially designated precinct of the police department. 

 

Remain means to linger, to tarry, and to stay unnecessarily upon the streets, including the 

congregating of groups (or of interacting minors) totaling four or more persons in which any minor 

involved would not be using the streets for ordinary or serious purposes such as mere passage or 

going home. 

 

Street is a way or place, of whatever nature, open to the use of the public as a matter of right for 

purposes of vehicular travel or in the case a sidewalk thereof, for pedestrian travel. The term street 

includes the legal right-of-way, including, but not limited to, the traffic lanes, the curb, the 

sidewalks, whether paved or unpaved, and any grass, plots or other grounds found within the legal 

right-of-way of the street. The term "street" applies irrespective of what is called or formerly 

named, whether alley, avenue, court, road, dedicated or otherwise. 



Time of night referred to herein is based upon the prevailing standard of time, whether central 

standard time or central daylight savings time, generally observed at that hour by the public in the 

city, prima facie the time when observed in the city administrative offices and police department. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-54. Restrictions. 

(a)   It shall be unlawful for any minor who has not reached his/her 18th birthday to remain 

in or upon any public street, highway, park, vacant lot, establishment or other public place 

within the city during the following periods: 

10:00 p.m. Sunday to 6:00 a.m. Monday 

10:00 p.m. Monday to 6:00 a.m. Tuesday 

10:00 p.m. Tuesday to 6:00 a.m. Wednesday 

10:00 p.m. Wednesday to 6:00 a.m. Thursday 

10:00 p.m. Thursday to 6:00 a.m. Friday 

12:00 a.m. (midnight) to 6:00 a.m. Saturday 

12:00 a.m. (midnight) to 6:00 a.m. Sunday 

 

(b)  It shall be unlawful for any compulsory school age child to remain in or upon any public 

street, highway, park, vacant lot, establishment or other place within the city during the 

following periods: 

 

(1)  7:30 a.m. until 3:30 p.m. on Monday through Friday during the school term in which 

such compulsory school age child is to be enrolled in a public, private, or legitimate 

nonpublic school, as required by the Mississippi Compulsory School Attendance Law. 

(2)  Any minor who shall violate any of the provisions of the Mississippi Compulsory 

School Attendance Law shall be dealt with according to the youth court laws of the State 

of Mississippi and in accordance with the directives of the youth court of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, or such other court as shall have jurisdiction over said minor. 

 

(c)   It shall further be unlawful for a parent of a minor to knowingly permit, or by inefficient 

control to allow, such minor to be or remain upon any street or establishment under 

circumstances not constituting an exception to, or otherwise beyond the scope of, this article 

as set forth in subsections (a) and (b) herein. The term "knowingly" includes knowledge that 

a parent should reasonably be expected to have concerning the whereabouts of a minor in that 

parent's legal custody. It is intended to hold neglectful or careless parents to a reasonable 

community standard of parental responsibility through an objective test. It shall be no defense 

that a parent was completely indifferent to the activities or conduct or whereabouts of such 

minor child. 

 

(d)  The owner, operator, or any employee of an establishment commits an offense if he 

knowingly allow a minor to remain upon the premises of the establishment during curfew 

hours as set forth in subsections (a) and (b) herein, or fails to make a reasonable effort to 

report any such violation to the proper authorities including but not limited to, advising the 

child to leave and contact the Jackson Police Department. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 



 

 

Sec. 86-55. Exceptions. 

The following shall constitute valid exceptions to the operation of the curfew: 

(1)  At any time a minor is accompanied by his or her parent; 

(2)  When accompanied by an adult authorized by a parent of a minor to take said parent's 

place in accompanying the minor for a designated period of time and definite purpose 

within a specified area; 

(3)  Until the hour of 12:30 a.m. if the minor is on errand as directed by his or her parent; 

(4)  If the minor is legally employed, for the period from 45 minutes before to 45 minutes 

after work, while going directly between his or her home and place of employment. This 

exception shall also apply if the minor is in a public place during curfew hours in the 

course of his or her employment. To come within this exception, the police officer shall 

dispatch communications to contact the minor's employer for verification of 

employment; 

(5)  Until the hour of 12:30 a.m. if the minor is on the property of or on the sidewalk 

directly adjacent to the place where such minor resides or the place immediately adjacent 

thereto if the owner of the adjacent building does not communicate an objection to the 

minor and the police officer; 

(6)  When returning home by a direct route from (and within 30 minutes of the 

termination of) a school activity or an activity of a religious or other voluntary 

association, or special event as defined and regulated in the "City of Jackson Special 

Events Ordinance;" 

(7)  In the case of reasonable necessity, but only after a minor's parent has communicated 

to police department personnel the facts establishing such reasonable necessity relating 

to specified streets at a designated time for a defined purpose, including place of origin 

and destination. A copy of such communication, or the police record thereof duly 

certified by the chief of police to be correct, and appropriate notation of the time it was 

received and of the names and addresses of such parent and minor, shall constitute 

evidence of qualification under this exception; 

(8)  When a minor is, with parental consent, in a motor vehicle engaged in bona fide 

interstate travel through the city particularly on Interstate 55, 20 and 220 and all access 

roads to these interstate systems, including all interstate travel beginning or ending in 

the city. 

(9)  Each of the foregoing exceptions, and their several limitations, are severable. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-56. Violations. 

(a)   From 7:30 a.m. until 3:30 p.m. on Monday through Friday during the school term, a 

police officer of the city who has probable cause to believe that a minor is in violation of this 

article shall: 

(1)  Stop and ascertain the name and address of the minor, and the school the minor 

attends; 



(2)  Report to communications so that communications personnel can make every 

reasonable effort to contact the appropriate school representative to confirm the minor's 

enrollment; and 

(3)  The officer shall make every reasonable effort to transport the minor to the 

appropriate school; or if the minor has been suspended or if the minor's school cannot 

be ascertained, then the officer, through communications personnel, shall make every 

reasonable effort to contact the minor's parent. If the minor's parent is unavailable, the 

officer shall transport the minor to the Henley-Young Juvenile Detention Center, where 

a Mississippi Department of Education representative will attempt to continue to contact 

the minor's parents. 

 

(b)  Between the hours of: 

10:00 p.m. Sunday to 6:00 a.m. Monday; 

10:00 p.m. Monday to 6:00 a.m. Tuesday; 

10:00 p.m. Tuesday to 6:00 a.m. Wednesday; 

10:00 p.m. Wednesday to 6:00 a.m. Thursday; 

10:00 p.m. Thursday to 6:00 a.m. Friday; 

12:00 a.m. (midnight) to 6:00 a.m. Saturday; and 

12:00 a.m. (midnight) to 6:00 a.m. Sunday, 

 

A police officer of the city who has probable cause to believe that a minor is in violation of this 

article shall: 

(1)  Stop and ascertain the name and address of the minor; 

(2)  Report to communications so that communications personnel can make every 

reasonable effort to contact the minor's parent and transport the minor to his/her parent; 

or 

(3)  If the minor's parent is unavailable, the police officer shall transport the minor to the 

Henley-Young Juvenile Detention Center until the minor's parent or proper authorities 

are contacted. 

 

(c)   Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this section, a police officer who has probable cause to 

believe that the minor is in violation of this article and has engaged in misdemeanor or 

felonious conduct, and if reasonable grounds exist to believe the minor has engaged in said 

delinquent conduct, the officer shall follow normal police procedure and transport the minor 

to the police department and place the minor in the Henley-Young Juvenile Detention Center. 

(d)  Notwithstanding paragraph (b) of this section, when a minor is detained, the minor's 

parent shall be immediately contacted. If, after this contact, there is still probable cause to 

believe that the minor was violating this article, the minor shall be held until the parent comes 

to retrieve minor. When the parent arrives, he or she shall be given a copy of this article. If 

no parent arrives within a reasonable time to retrieve the minor, then the minor shall be turned 

over to the custody of the local juvenile authorities until a parent can take custody of the 

minor. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

 



Sec. 86-57. Penalties. 

(a) Whenever a minor is transported to the Henley-Young Juvenile Detention Center for 

violation of this article under subsection (b), the minor's parent shall be issued a written 

warning. For a second parental offense, a parent shall be fined $25.00. For each 

subsequent offense by a parent, the fine shall be increased by an additional $25.00, e.g. 

$50.00 for third, $75.00 for the fourth offense. 

 

(b)  The owner, operator, or any employee of an establishment violating any provision of this 

article shall, upon conviction thereof, be fined $100.00 for a first offense. For each subsequent 

offense by an owner, operator, or employee of an establishment, the fine shall be increased 

by an additional $50.00. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-58. Construction and severability. 

Severability is intended throughout and within the provisions of this article. If any section of this 

article is determined to be voided or invalid, the validity of article's remainder shall not be affected 

thereby. The city council does not intend to violate the Constitution of the State of Mississippi or 

the Constitution of the United States of America in the implementation of this article. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-59. Continuing evaluation. 

The city council will continue its evaluation and updating of this article through methods including, 

but not limited to, at the end of each school year, after the implementation of this article, the chief 

of police shall provide the city council with a report concerning the effect of this article on crimes 

committed by and against minors, and of the number of warnings issued and arrests of minors and 

parents or legal guardians hereunder, and such other information as the city council may request. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-60. Expiration ("sunset provision"). 

This article shall expire and shall be null and void on July 1, 2009. This provision is included 

herein to ensure that the effectiveness and necessity of the article will be reviewed by the city 

council within a reasonable time after its adoption. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Sec. 86-61. Notice. 

The city clerk shall provide notice of this article and of the curfew regulations established herein 

by having copies of the article posted in, on, or about such public or quasi-public places as may be 

determined by the mayor, city council, and police department so that the public may be constantly 

informed of the existence of the article and its amendments and regulations. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 



Sec. 86-62. Cumulative nature of article. 

This article shall be cumulative and in addition to any other laws and regulations in force. 

(Ord. No. 2007-25(7), § 1, 8-9-07; Ord. No. 2008-16(6), § 1, 5-20-08) 

 

 

Secs. 86-63—86-85. Reserved. 

 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED, that the Jackson City Council hereby re-

enacts Jackson, Mississippi, Code of Ordinances, Article II Sections 86-51 through 86-62. 

 

 

SO ORDAINED, this the _____ day of December, 2023. 

 

                                                           Agenda Item No. ______ 

                                                          Date: December 19, 2023 

                                                           BY: STOKES 

                                                                       

 











































































































































































































































































































ORDER AMENDING ORDER APPOINTING JERMEAIA CARR DEPUTY 

CLERK OF COUNCIL ON A PART-TIME BASIS. (S. JORDAN) 

WHEREAS, on July 2, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved an Order appointing 

Jermeaia Carr as a Deputy Clerk of Council on a part time basis; and 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

WHEREAS, the position of Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established by 

the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, after evaluating her qualifications and experience, the governing authorities 

for the City of Jackson have determined that Jermeaia Carr is a suitable person to serve as Deputy 

Clerk of the Council on a full-time basis. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jermeaia Carr shall be appointed to serve as Deputy 

Clerk of the Council. 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jermeaia Carr upon commencement of her service as 

Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be $31,676.24 excluding any applicable fringe benefits. 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jermeaia Carr’s tenure as Deputy Clerk of Council shall 

continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Jermeaia Carr as Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Jermeaia Carr as Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

Agenda Item No. 37 

December 19, 2023 

(S. Jordan) 














